A PHENOMENOLOGY OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PLANS: EXPERIENCES OF ADMINISTRATORS

A Record of Study

by

CRISELDA RODRIGUEZ FLORES

Submitted to the Graduate and Professional School of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Chair of Committee,	Michelle Kwok
Co-Chair of Committee,	Shaun D. Hutchins
Committee Members,	Joyce E. Juntune
	Robert Capraro
Head of Department,	Claire Katz

August 2023

Major Subject: Curriculum and Instruction

Copyright 2023 Criselda Rodriguez Flores

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this qualitative study was to describe the lived experience of administrators in developing school improvement plans. The outcome being sought was an informed framework to build the capacity of administrators to strategically plan for school improvement. The central research question for this study was the following: How do secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans? The subset questions for this study were the following: a) How do the participants describe their experiences in developing school improvement plans and any associated challenges? a) How do administrators describe the contexts or situations that influenced or affected their experiences in developing the school improvement plan?

This qualitative study was grounded in social learning and educational change theories. Through a phenomenological process, my intent was to describe through an empirical inquiry the development of school improvement plans through the shared and lived experience among the school administrators, the context of their experiences, and how these experiences affected or influenced the development of school improvement plans. Through purposeful sampling, one administrator per secondary school within the Magnet Independent School District was selected on the basis that the administrator was directly in charge of the development of the school improvement plan. The sources of data were texts, interviews, and a research journal. The results of this study aligned to the literature presented that there exists a lack of a systematic process for positive improvement, school administrators might lack strategic skills necessary to enact timely educational reform, and effectiveness of principals must be developed and improved. These results guided the recommendations and the artifact presented as part of this record of study.

DEDICATION

My study is dedicated to my life foundation – my Family. Without them, I would be lost in this world. Through this process, my mother Maria Luisa Rodriguez Arriazola and my brother Eliazar Rodriguez Jr fulfilled their life purpose and mission in this world. Together with my Lord, I know that my mom and brother held my hand and inspired me to keep on going. To my mother and father, Eliazar Rodriguez Cantu, thank you for being my role models and creating the strongest foundation to develop me as a strong, independent woman. To my sisters, Leticia, Ofelia, and Dora Elia, thank you for showing me resilience and endurance in this life. To my nephews, Elias, Abel, Eddie, and Alex, and my princess Andrea thank you for loving me and being my inspiration in my life. My educational endeavors have been to guide you, be an example, and for you to continue our family legacy and the foundation of your grandparents Maria and Elias that education is the key to a better life. There exists no excuse for you not to be successful and lead a purposeful life. To my love, Richard Flores III, thank you for your unconditional love, patience, and kindness. By your side, my life has been fulfilled. Siempre Juntos.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Texas A&M University had been my dream and it became my reality. I have grown professionally and personally through the process of earning my doctorate degree through the support of all my professors and my committee. I will forever be thankful for the guidance, feedback, and support. To my committee chair, Dr. Michelle Kwok, thank you. I am so grateful for your advice, guidance, patience, and time you provided me through the entire process. You were my guiding light. To my committee co-chair, Dr. Shaun D. Hutchins, thank you for your engagement, knowledge, and support since early in the program. To my committee members, Dr. Joyce E. Juntune and Dr. Robert Capraro thank you for your support and guidance through the entire process.

Thank you to my current mentors and colleagues that continuously supported me and help me meet my educational goals. Thank you to Johnny Hinojosa, Amy Dominguez '89, and Dr. Lara for all their support in completing my record of study. A shoutout to Cohort XIII for your inspiration, guidance, and motivation. Thank you to my dear friends Cassie Rios Bailey and Joanne Garza for guiding the way and pushing me to keep on going.

I have been blessed with the best family anyone can only wish for. Thank you to my father, Eliazar Rodriguez Cantu, and my mother, Maria Rodriguez Arriazola, for their support, guidance, and love. Their dedication to our family and continual guidance to strive and commit to education, independence, and strong principles and work ethic have been my driving force to be and do my best daily. Thank you to my sisters, nephews, and niece for their love, patience, and helping me balance my life. Thank you to my late mother and my late brother, Eliazar Rodriguez Jr, for lighting the way when at times I could not see.

And lastly, I have been blessed with a kind, supportive and loving husband, Richard Flores III. Thank you for your patience and love. With you, everything was possible and even when I needed a mental break, you were there to keep me going, provide me some rest, and then push me to get it done daily. I love you.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

The work in this record of study was supervised by committee chair Dr. Michelle Kwok from the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture. Co-chair of the committee was Dr. Shaun D. Hutchins from the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture. The committee members were Dr. Joyce E. Juntune from the Department of Educational Psychology and Dr. Robert Capraro from the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture. All work completed for this record of study was completed by the student independently.

Funding Sources

No funding sources were received to make possible this record of study. Its contents and views are the solely responsibility of the author.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	x
CHAPTER I: LEADERSHIP CONTEXT AND PURPOSE OF THE ACTION	1
 1.1. The Context. 1.1.1. National Context . 1.1.2. Situational Context. 1.2. The Problem. 1.2.1. Relevant History of the Problem. 1.2.2. Significance of the Problem. 1.3. Research Questions. 1.4. Personal Context . 1.4.1. Researcher's Role . 1.4.2. Journey to the Problem . 	1 3 6 7 8 9 9 9 11 12
1.5. Important Terms1.6. Closing Thoughts on Chapter I	
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF SUPPORTING SCHOLARSHIP	
 2.1. Introduction 2.2. Relevant Historical Background 2.3. Alignment with Action Research Traditions 2.4. Theoretical or Conceptual Framework 2.5. Most Significant Research and Practice Studies 	19 22 22 27
 2.5.1. Student Achievement	29 30 31
2.5.5. Sundards	

2.5.6. Training	
2.5.7. Appraisal System	
2.5.8. Professional Development	
2.6. Closing Thoughts on Chapter II	
CHAPTER III: SOLUTION AND METHOD	
3.1. Proposed Solution	38
3.2. Outline of Proposed Solution	
3.3. Justification of Proposed Solution	
3.4. Study Context and Participants	
3.5. Research Paradigm	
3.6. Data Collection Methods	
3.6.1. Interviews	
3.6.2. Textual Artifacts	
3.6.3. Research Journal	
3.7. Justification of Instruments	
3.8. Data Analysis Strategy	
3.9. Timeline	
3.10. Trustworthiness Concerns	
3.10.1. Credibility	
3.10.2. Dependability	
3.10.2. Dependability	
3.10.4. Transferability	
3.11. Closing Thoughts on Chapter III	
CHAPTER IV: SOLUTIONS	54
4.1. Introducing the Analysis	54
4.2. Presentation of Data	
4.3. Results of Research	
4.3.1. Results of Content Analysis of Interviews	
4.3.2. Findings Related to the Development of School Improvement Plans	
4.3.3. Findings Related to Participants' Experiences	
4.3.4. Findings Related to the Participants' Context	
4.4. Interaction Between the Research and the Context	
4.4.1. How did the Context Impact the Results	
4.4.2. How did the Research Impact the Context	
4.5. Summary	
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	
5.1. Summary of Findings	78
5.2. Discussion of Results in Relation to the Literature	
5.3. Discussion of Personal Lessons Learned	
5.4. Implications for Practice	

5.4.1. Implications for Context	
5.4.2. Implications for the Field of Study	
5.5. Lessons Learned	
5.6. Recommendations	
5.7. Closing Thoughts	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A INTERVIEW PART ONE	101
APPENDIX B_INTERVIEW PART TWO	
APPENDIX C ROS ARTIFACT	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 Participants'(P) Role and Experience	55
Table 2 ESF Components Reflected in Participants' Interview Responses	57
Table 3 Campus Improvement Plan Analysis per Participant	59

CHAPTER I: LEADERSHIP CONTEXT AND PURPOSE OF THE ACTION

1.1. The Context

In the state of Texas, the overall goal for the current education system is to support all students to be college, career and military ready. The overarching goal among states and our nation is the advancement of education to influence future generations. Beyond the federal and state mandates and educational reforms that stem from this goal, school districts entrust schools to meet the standards expected by the state and federal mandates. Ultimately, school leaders are left to mitigate the best course of action to meet the expectations set by every governing body from the local school district to state and federal government. Consequently, the effectiveness of the school leaders is of utmost importance in meeting student achievement and school performance standards set by every entity. Coming just after classroom instruction, school leadership has been central in influencing school improvement (Hallinger & Heck, 1998; Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010; Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi Doris, 2010). Principals focusing on school improvement plans as a systemic and strategic process geared at meeting state and federal mandates can lead to the advancement of schools, students, and education.

1.1.1. National Context

On January 24, 2020, President Trump declared that our educational system continued to fail our children by stating that "at the time when our students need the skills to succeed in an ever-changing world, the "Nation's Report Card" shows that about two-thirds of our children are not Proficient readers" (Proclamation, 2020, p. 5297-5298). In the latest international comparisons in the National Center of Educational Statistics, in 2015, the United States ranked 15th in reading literacy scores, 19th in science literacy scores and 37th in mathematics literacy scores for 15-year-olds (McFarland et al., 2019). Educational reform is inevitable.

Today, as stated in *A Nation at Risk* in 1983 and recognized by previous administrations, "the success of future generations determines the success of our Nation" (Proclamation, 2020, p. 5297-5298). With this determination, policy changes have occurred at the federal and state level from the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) in 1965 signed by President Johnson to No Child Left Behind in 2002 to Every Student Succeeds Act in 2015 signed by President Obama supported advancing education as a priority (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.). Policy changes and implementation have consistently increased the accountability of districts and schools, as well as the support for the educational system in improving student achievement. With every educational policy change and establishment, school leaders carry the mantle to meet all the accountability demands of educational policies.

The role that school leaders play in student learning is crucial. When it comes to influencing student achievement, school leadership comes in second just under classroom instruction (Seashore Louis, Leithwood, Wahlstrom, & Anderson, 2010). In the 2017-2018 National Teacher and Principal Survey, principals were asked how they thought they influenced different school activities. Based on the outcomes of the survey, principals felt that they had a major influence in evaluating teachers with a 93.4 percent; the greatest gap in school activities was found between 46.8 percent in establishing curriculum and 93.4 percent in evaluating teachers (Taie & Goldring, 2019). Additionally, the survey reported that only 83.4 percent of principals participated in professional development activities (Taie & Goldring, 2019). Based on the report from the National Center of Educational Statistics, *The Conditions of Education*, comparing principals in 2015-16 to 1999-2000, a higher percentage of principals in 2015-16 had 3 or fewer years of experience, 39 compared to 30 percent, and 4 to 9 years of experience as principals with 35 versus 31 percent (McFarland, et al., 2019). Central to positively impacting

the current educational system is school leaders developing strategic improvement plans to increase student achievement and school success. When school leaders lack the skill to develop effective strategic plans, this can lead to a lack of advancement in the quality of schools, instruction and ultimately student success.

1.1.2. Situational Context

The region is composed of four counties with a population close to two million people. Because Magnet ISD¹ only serves three of the four counties, only these three counties are being compared. Based on the United States Census Bureau, the highest population is found in County One² with 865, 939, followed by County Two³ with 423, 908 in population and 21,515 in County Three. County One and County Two have had an increase in their population since 2010 of 11.8% and 4.4% respectively with County Three⁴ having a decrease of population of 2.8%. All three counties have a predominantly Hispanic population above 88% in the three counties as compared to Texas with 39.4%.

When it comes to education, income, and poverty in the population of the three counties, the overall Texas population has a higher percentage in these areas than the three counties in the Rio Grande Valley. The state of Texas has around twenty percentage points above in persons over age twenty-five that are high school graduates or higher. The percentage of persons of age twenty-five with a bachelor's degree or higher in Texas is 28.7% as compared to County Three

¹ All names are pseudonyms.

² All names are pseudonyms.

³ All names are pseudonyms.

³ All names are pseudonyms.

with 9% and County Two and County Three at around 17%. As compared to Texas, the three counties being compared fall below 50% of the per capita income with County Three being over 53% below the Texas' per capita income.

1.1.2.1. District Description

Magnet Independent School District (MISD) traditionally serves students in 7th through 12th grade and in 2021 with the addition of an online academy it started serving grade 6. The district serves students from three counties and overlaps 28 school districts. Currently, the district is composed of six magnet schools, two middle schools, four high schools, and one virtual academy. Magnet ISD is the only all-magnet school district in the state of Texas offering students an educational alternative. MISD is a public-school district and as such, there is no cost for students to attend nor a charge for bus transportation. MISD maintains an open enrollment policy which means that any student

within the three counties can attend. One middle school and high school are located in County One. The other middle school and two other high schools are located near the center of the three counties but are still part of County One. The newest high school is located in County Two. No schools are located in County Three.

Magnet ISD does not believe in a top-heavy staffing approach; the district prioritizes staffing at the campus level instead of at the district level. Central administration accounts for only 0.4% of the staff in the entire district, lower than the state percentage of 1.1% as addressed in the Texas Academic Performance Report (TAPR). Currently, the district has one superintendent, one deputy superintendent overseeing curriculum, assessment, and instructional programs and principals, one assistant superintendent overseeing finance and human resources, one administrator for support services, and one public relations and marketing coordinator.

1.1.2.2. District's Focus

The mission of Magnet ISD is the following:

The mission of Magnet Independent School District, a proven educational leader that values academic success and high expectations for all, is to inspire and develop each student to achieve at the highest-level lead in a chosen field and contribute to a changing world by nurturing each student's aspirations through a supportive environment that engages our entire community in challenging learning experiences (STISD, 2021).

As stated in their mission, Magnet ISD has proven its academic success. Based on the 2018-2019 Texas Academic Performance Report, South Texas ISD enrolled 4,098 students with a population consisting of predominately Hispanic at 84.2%, 8.3% Asian, 5.8% White, 0.8% African American, and 0.1% American Indian, and a population of 0.7% with two or more races. The student population is 53.9% economically disadvantaged with 20.9% at-risk of not graduating. Magnet ISD received an "A" as an accountability rating with a distinction designation in Postsecondary Readiness and the status of meeting requirements for the 2019 Special Education Determination. Academically, Magnet ISD surpasses the state STAAR performance rating with over twenty percentage points in all performance levels. Similarly, the district surpassed the state in the College, Career, and Military Readiness graduation measure with thirty percentage points at 95.5% as compared to 65.5%, as well as, over forty percentage points in the college ready graduation standard at 90.5% as compared to 50%. Based on the graduating class of 2017-2018, Magnet ISD surpassed the state performance in the Texas Success Initiative Assessment (TSI) with over twenty percentage points with 41.4% meeting both reading and math requirements, the Advance Placement and International Baccalaureate

(AP/IB) results with thirty percentage points with a 43%, and SAT/ACT results at or above the criterion with over thirty percentage points with a 61.4%. Based on the state accountability system, Magnet ISD has surpassed the state and region performance.

Although Magnet ISD has a positive accountability record, Magnet ISD has been stagnant in academic performance starting in 2018. The career pathways that once made Magnet ISD unique are now a common offering in school districts due to graduation requirements in the state. Since program offerings are being offered by neighboring districts, Magnet ISD has struggled to meet enrollment numbers. In 2017, a five-year strategic plan was created but only one year of actions were developed. The actions and goals that were developed for 2017 were implemented and surpassed by 2018; however, the plan was never reviewed again after the 2017-2018 academic year. The goals that continue to give direction to Magnet ISD are the 2017-2018 goals with no updated actions and goals. Developing a current improvement plan by reviewing the most current data can lead Magnet ISD to be strategic in implementing actions that can support improvement in the district.

1.2. The Problem

Before 2018 and unlike other school districts, Magnet ISD prioritized staffing and a low student to teacher ratio at the campus level and not the district level accounting 99.6% of staff at the campuses. The district supported principals in exercising autonomy and decision-making in addressing the needs of their individual campuses. Principal mobility, accountability, and standard practices and systems were non-existence. In 2018, a new superintendent was hired, audits were conducted, and evidence of non-compliance and lack of systemic plans were evident. Starting in 2018, the continuity of administrators at Magnet ISD has been a concern. Six out of the seven schools have had a change in principals and assistant principals. In the last four years, six out of the seven schools have had between two to three changes in administration. Changes in administration have been due to the lack of effectiveness and strategic skills by the campus administration which led to their dismissal and as stated by central office administration, the success of Magnet ISD was "by chance and not by design" (Central Office, personal communication, 2021). Knowing the influence principals have on schools and student learning, the lack of continuity of highly effective and skilled administrators in meeting district and campus goals has been a concern. In the Spring of 2022, the district initiated the development of improvement plans, leaving behind the 2017 strategic plan. Based on the district's improvement plan, recruiting, development, and retaining highly effective teachers and administrators is a goal for the upcoming year. Furthermore, based on the 2021 spring 2022 preliminary STAAR EOC assessments, the district did not meet the action goals of 100% approaches, 85% meets, and 50% masters in student achievement (Central Office, personal communication, May 30, 2022). This study seeks to understand the lived experiences of school administrators at Magnet ISD in developing school improvement plans to impact the overall performance of a campus.

1.2.1. Relevant History of the Problem

Magnet ISD has been successful in educating students across three counties by providing students with an innovative educational option that was not available at their home campus. However, since 2018, the student enrollment has decreased, the district student achievement goals have not been met, and most schools now offer the academic and specialized programs that Magnet ISD offers (Central Office, personal communication, May 24, 2022). Additionally, Magnet ISD's population has changed to include an increase of students under the special education program, section 504 program, and the bilingual program plus the academic achievement gap between these populations and the general population has increased (STISD,

2021). Furthermore, as part of the effect of the pandemic, the achievement gap by all students as compared as other years has increased leading campuses not meeting district goals. These recent data at Magnet ISD make it more important to develop improvement plans that can advance Magnet ISD.

1.2.2. Significance of the Problem

Education reform is not new, it is complex, and it continues to be a never-ending goal of public education. In the early nineteenth century, Horace Mann saw a venue to support children in the state of Massachusetts which "lacked an overarching system, a common curriculum, systematic training of its teachers, and textbooks free of the kind of religious doctrine" (Peterson, 2010, p. 27). Today as in the past, education reformers continue to seek progress and advancement for the future generations; however, the deficiencies seen by Mann in the nineteenth century continue to exist. Educational reformers are necessary today due to a continued missed opportunity to advance students and a lack of untimely action by educational leaders to create personal and institutional responsibility to advance education.

The development of school improvement plans by educational leaders is the focus of this study due to the crucial role educational leaders play in advancing education, schools, and children. In the past four years, Magnet ISD has seen a decline in student academic achievement, has been stagnant in advancing educational programs, and has not met district improvement plan goals. The importance to engage in this study is to develop an understanding of shared experiences from secondary school administrators in developing school improvement plans. Developing an understanding of these experiences will support the development of best practices to support administrators in strategic and purposeful planning and the development of school improvement plans to improve student outcomes.

1.3. Research Questions

The purpose of this study is to describe the lived experience with designing school improvement plans for secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD. The outcome being sought is an informed development and implementation of an action plan to build the capacity of administrators to strategically plan for school improvement. The central research question for this study is the following:

1. How do secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans?

The subset questions this study is pursuing are the following:

- a. How do the participants describe their experiences in developing school improvement plans and any associated challenges?
- b. How do administrators describe the contexts or situations that influenced or affected their experiences in developing the school improvement plan?

1.4. Personal Context

Our vocation can transform the world. My interest in pursuing this study is the unending desire for improving our educational system to positively impact the lives of students. One way that we can impact the education system is by developing the skills necessary for school administrators to lead their schools successfully.

I have a strong conviction in daily developing oneself to be a driving force in student learning. I strongly believe that our vocation is one of the purest and most influential in our world. I have always believed that the day that I decided to be an educator I took an oath with the sole purpose and responsibility to make a difference in students' lives to reach their full potential. My journey in education started with my parents being my guidance and teachers. Although my parents only had formal education up to grade three, they instill in me the importance of learning, doing the right thing, and that education would be my only means to get out of poverty, as well as education being the only thing that no one could take away from me. Today, I am a principal of a magnet high school.

The Rio Grande Valley, in the Southernmost tip of Texas, has been my home and this is where my journey as a student and educator began. The Rio Grande Valley has a predominantly Hispanic population, with most schools having a high number of low economic disadvantaged families, a high number of first generation college-goers and high number of students at-risk of not graduating. Like many of these students, I, too, was economically disadvantaged, first generation college-goer, at-risk of not graduating and limited English proficient. Regardless of the disadvantages and labels, in the fall of 2001, I became a high school teacher in a Title 1 school led by a female principal who I saw as a strong instructional leader. Her leadership, strong work ethic and assertiveness instilled in me the conviction to do my best in supporting our students and to continue to develop myself.

Before becoming a principal, I always sought people to learn from as my colleagues or school administrators, I enrolled in various university courses throughout my career, and I attended workshops aligned to my duties that were state and federally mandated as LPAC and district initiated; however, it was not until I became a principal that I realized that I needed specialized guidance, professional development and supports to lead my school. Throughout my twenty years of educational experience, I had to seek answers through research, former principals, and by collaborating within my administrative team. I recognized that I had not experienced systemic professional development to make me a better administrator and problem

solve through the demands of our educational system other than university course work and learning from good or bad experiences in my career.

Today, I believe that I would have been a total failure in leading schools if I did not have the ambition to learn and the drive to seek answers to improve my practice in improving schools. Through my twenty years in the educational system, at no point, did anyone hold my hand or systemically guide me to be an administrator, much less improve my craft. As a school leader, understanding continuous improvement planning as a tool for school reform and implementing improvement plans guided me and supported me in the demands necessary for school and student advancement. With this study, I seek to understand the lived experiences of administrators in developing school improvement plans to be able to later formulate an action plan to build the capacity of administrators to strategically plan for school improvement.

1.4.1. Researcher's Role

The role that I will play as a researcher will be full membership. I was employed with the district in 2018. I was able to see the central administration shift from the prior to the new central administration which allowed me to see the transformation in the top leadership positions as the superintendent and deputy superintendent. Having these experiences allow me to be reflective about my own perspective but also be flexible by being fully active and involved with the participants of my study which are my own colleagues holding the same position of principals at Magnet ISD. Before 2018, all principals had been in their positions between ten to more than twenty years; however, since 2022 with only four years in the district, I am now the longest standing principal. My goal is to be reflective and flexible of my own perspectives and to "strive to describe the meaning of the findings from the perspective of the research participants" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, p. 43). My aim will be to give a voice to the perspectives of the

participants to generate meaning of their realities of the development of campus improvement plans.

1.4.2. Journey to the Problem

Before 2018, Magnet ISD was a leading educational success as a magnet school district offering students educational opportunities and programs not seen at other districts; however, after 2014, the district became stagnant in its educational offerings and other districts started offering the same educational opportunities as Magnet ISD (Central Office, personal communication, 2021). In 2018, the superintendent retired, and a new superintendent was hired. His experience as a leading director of innovative practices at the regional education service center brought a vision of "always innovating" and to improve and move the district to be in the top ten in the nation "by design and not by chance" (Central Office, personal communication, 2021). Based on the new central administration leadership, leadership practices are seen as correlated to learner success and teacher effectiveness. By 2018, all principals had been leading their campuses for a minimum of ten years with some leading their campuses for over twenty years; however, Magnet ISD did not have a process to decrease the teacher quality gap. Autonomy was a practice exercised by each campus principal, each set their own practices such as the development of teachers. With the new administration, systemic processes, uniform practices, principal accountability, campus performance, and student achievement became an expectation. Several central office positions were created and fulfilled as a Curriculum and Instruction Academic Officer overseeing curriculum, instruction, assessment, and professional development.

For the new administration, the principal is a pillar for the success of the schools, and therefore, their development became a priority as well as the professional development of

teachers and administrators. Principals are accountable to build the capacity of their teachers to grow in their craft regardless of their effectiveness as a campus and instructional leader (Park & Datnow, 2017). Due to the autonomy principals have over their campus and depending on each principal's capacity to know their own leadership effectiveness, their own needs for professional growth can go unnoticed, as well as, having the skill of meeting the needs of their campus (Johnston, Kaufman, & Thompson, 2016). Due to principals being underqualified or focused on other school business, principals might not meet the needs of campuses, focus on teacher effectiveness, and increase student achievement (Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi, 2010). By 2022, most schools at Magnet ISD have a new principal, and principal accountability and improving student achievement, campus performance, and being innovative by design are all expectations. Moreover, the district has focused on creating uniformity and processes to support the principals, streamline curriculum, and create a professional development plan to support all personnel.

1.4.3. Significant Stakeholders

The most significant stakeholders are secondary school administrators. Understanding the secondary school administrators' learned experiences in leading school improvement forms the basis of this study. Furthermore, forming an understanding of their experiences will lead to the development of an action plan to improve their current capacity to improve their practice with the phenomenon. With this understanding and implementation of an action plan, additional stakeholders will be other school personnel such as teachers that have an interest in embarking in administration to lead schools.

Additionally, other stakeholders include district administrators and students. Building the capacity of current school leaders and future school leaders is an interest of district leaders. The investment from district leaders in developing the effectiveness of school administrators is

critical in improving schools and student achievement. The possibility of creating an action plan that can build not only current but future leaders has the potential to create the synergy necessary for continuous improvement of schools and districts. Finally, the goal for any school and district is the success of students so that they can impact their future. Students are stakeholders. Ultimately, the intent for this study is to indirectly impact students, their learning, advancing education and future generations.

1.5. Important Terms

School Performance – According to the Texas Education Agency, "evaluates performance across all subjects for all students, on both general and alternate assessments, College, Career, and Military Readiness (CCMR) indicators, and graduation rates" (TEA, 2019, p. 3).

Student Achievement – According to the Texas Education Agency, "measures district and campus outcomes in two areas: the number of students that grew at least one year academically (or are on track) as measured by STAAR results and the achievement of all students relative to districts or campuses with similar economically disadvantaged percentages" (TEA, 2019, p. 3).

School Improvement Plans – For the purpose of this study, the school improvement, strategic improvement plans, continuous improvement plans, and strategic plans will be used interchangeably. Beyond a required artifact for Title I schools, federal and state mandates, and school accountability, for the purpose of this study the focus being entertained is the improvement of all students and schools as the major outcomes as stated by the Texas Education Agency.

14

Effectives Schools Framework (ESF) – According to the Texas Education Agency, "the goal of the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) is to provide a clear vision for what districts and schools across the state do to ensure an excellent education for all Texas students. The ESF provides support for district and campus continuous improvement through the facilitation of the ESF diagnostic process that results in the identification of prioritized practices the campus can focus on to support continuous improvement" (Texas Education Agency, 2019).

1.6. Closing Thoughts on Chapter I

Our vocation calls to prepare students for their future, to positively impact the world. Similarly, our vocation calls to always be prepared to learn and advance our own understanding, to be and do better due to the direct impact our learning has on advancing students. Consequently, educational entities view teaching and teachers as a priority in supporting the advancement of instruction, curriculum, and assessment to impact student achievement. Although teachers must always be a priority, an emphasis must also revolve around the development and systemic support of school administrators to lead continuous improvement in all school operations and systems. Due to educational reform, the accountability system, state and federal mandates, school administrators are crucial in leading schools in meeting all expectations by the different governing bodies. Building the capacity of school administrators is necessary for improvement not only in school achievement and school performance, but the indirect impact of future school leaders. Part of the purpose of this study is to increase the capacity of current administrators so that synergy and their influence can impact future administrators and ultimately see the continuous growth in student achievement and school performance.

15

In this study, I plan to explore the beliefs and experiences of administrators in developing school improvement plans utilizing qualitative data as a primary source. For chapter two, I conducted a review of the literature pertaining to the role principals and school improvement plans and the influence both have in student achievement and school performance. In chapter three, I will discuss the solution, design, and methods for implementation in the study. Data analysis and the findings will be shared in chapter four and conclusions will be presented in chapter five.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF SUPPORTING SCHOLARSHIP

2.1. Introduction

A vast number of issues are influencing the current education system and these issues are impacting organizations as a whole and ultimately students. Among the critical issues that currently impact education as a whole is the development of purposeful and strategic school improvement plans that can lead to improvement in student achievement and campus performance (Texas Education Agency, 2019). School administrators must be purposely engaged in the strategic process of developing school improvement plans to continuously improve the conditions of schools, positively impact student achievement, increase the quality of instruction, and increase school performance (Texas Education Agency, 2019). Principals as school administrators are instructional leaders and the driving force of schools; however, not much time is spent supporting principals in being effective instructional leaders and a lack of shared accountability exists when it comes to leading improvements in student achievement (Park & Dantnow, 2017). After the beginning of the yearly professional development, many principals are left to lead their schools and be accountable to make progress towards meeting the district's goals. Instruction, mentoring and principal-focused professional development might continue to be a topic of support only in a large school district (Johnston, Kaufman, & Thompson, 2016). Most principals then will lead their campus to success or failure, and at the end, the accountability system will determine the shared success or lonely failure of a school.

Principals are at times seen through a *neoheroic* idealistic lens since they will face many challenges, wear many hats and most "successful leaders [will] improve learning in their schools in many ways" (Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi, 2010, p. 698). However, when a principal lacks the understanding of the importance of teaching and learning as a major aspect of student

achievement, the lack of understanding can lead to a lack of improvement in classroom instruction, the learning of students and teachers, and the establishment of processes for success. Through this study, I plan to seek an understanding of how school administrators develop school improvement plans to impact student achievement, school performance, and the overall conditions of schools.

Through chapter two, I review the literature associated with school improvement plans and the role of school administrators in the planning process of developing school improvement plans. In the first part of this chapter, a review of related literature relevant to the history of educational reform, the action research traditions alignment along with change theory in the educational setting, and the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) will be presented. The evolution of education through these three lenses is intended to create relevancy to the expectations of principals to improve the current conditions of schools and lead them to success as determined by state and federal standards. The Effective Schools Framework (ESF) is presented as the guidance to principals in the continuous improvement process to positively impact student achievement. Next, the research literature is examined to create an understanding of the process of purposeful strategic planning in the development of school improvement plans as determined by the Texas Education Agency. Then, through the literature review, I attempt to create an understanding of the actions needed by school administrators for the improvement of schools. Subsequently, the literature is analyzed to construct the significance of the outcomes of school improvement plans such as increasing student achievement, as well as effective school improvement plans that can lead students to achieve high standards and access to high-quality instruction. A critical analysis of reviewed literature is examined for relevancy among the various and associated essential areas needed to be addressed by administrators for

understanding of their campus and student population needs, effective use and analysis of data, research-based action, goal development, and strategic activities to lead to student and campus success. Lastly, the literature is analyzed for relevant gaps for further study to address any disconnect amongst all the essential areas necessary to support principals in leading student and campus improvement.

2.2. Relevant Historical Background

For over the past 50 years, our nation's educational system has been inspired to commit to national goals to provide educational opportunities and increase the achievement levels of all students. From the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) in 1965 to the current Every Student Succeed Act (ESSA), educational reform has led to varied policy and accountability changes with the purpose of committing to improving the education system to improve the academic achievement and performance of all students.

The educational system has evolved through the decades; however, the goal has not changed from being the academic achievement and performance of students, as well as, providing more educational opportunities. In 1965, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) was signed as a national education law by President Lyndon Baines Johnson. This act afforded "all children significant opportunity to receive a fair, equitable, and high-quality education, and to close educational achievement gaps" (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.; Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1965, p. 8). Since then, this act has been amended with the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act enacted in 2002, followed by Every Student Succeeds (ESSA) Act in 2015 signed into law by President Obama; nonetheless, the premise among the acts continued to provide an equal opportunity to education for all students and increase student achievement. Equally, the focus on accountability was a critical component

associated throughout the acts to improve educational systems to support all students which led to recognize the challenges in meeting the educational goals through each act. Ultimately, ESSA allowed flexibility to states to develop their own plans to "close achievement gaps, increase equity, improve the quality of instruction, and increase outcomes for all students" (U.S. Department of Education, n.d., p. 2) and still stay focused "on the clear goal of fully preparing all students for success in college and careers" to strengthen not only the educational system but also the national economy (U.S. Department of Education, n.d., p. 2). While states were able to have flexibility by developing their own plans, the focus continued to be the education of all.

In the early eighties, a major movement of reform was initiated by *A Nation at Risk* which demanded to place our educational system and students at the forefront of our actions for the future of our country and the economy. In 1983, the National Commission on Excellence in Education made a call for action to the nation and the United States Department of Education through the report titled *A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform. A Nation at Risk* reported on the "strengths and weaknesses of American education to help define the problems afflicting American education and to provide solutions, not search for scapegoats", a call to action to innovation and reform, and reflection of the "conflicting demands" placed on schools and colleges "to provide solutions to personal, social, and political problems that the home and other institutions either will not or cannot resolve"(U.S. Department of Education, National, 1983, p. 9). Ultimately, *A Nation at Risk* led the nation to analyze and act on the state of American education by creating a concern focused on the future of the country and the economy.

A Nation at Risk shifted the direction of our educational system to think about student achievement and performance beyond the national level into the competitive global community. In 1989, *Goals 2000* was proposed as a solution to the nation's ailing education system. In 1994, President Clinton signed the *Goals 2000 Educate America* act that "set educational goals for the nation's public schools to be achieved by the year 2000, creating a framework for implementing the goals, and provide incentives for the states to cooperate in meeting the goals" (National Center of Home Education, 2002, p. 1). The response from the state of Texas was to move from the *Closing the Gaps by 2015* to the *2015-2030 Texas Higher Education Plan: 60x30TX*. The *60x30TX* higher education plan strives for "60 percent of the 25- to 34-year-old Texas population to hold a certificate or degree by 2030" to increase student success with combined supports and collaborative efforts from various stakeholders allowing Texas institutions of higher education to "have more opportunities to grow, which will enrich students and the state" (Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2015, p. iv). With the development of the *60x30TX* plan, Texas led collaborative and strategic efforts focused in supporting students through their transition from their school to a job certification or a college degree.

With every act signed and goals set at the federal and state level, the precedence to meet the standards was established. The accountability system for every state and local education agency became the measure of success for every local education agency. Not meeting the goals of the accountability system led to the identification of schools and districts as needing improvement. A system of supports and processes was then established to support districts in meeting the accountability system through the development of strategic improvement plans (Texas Education Agency, Division, 2019). The effectiveness of the development and implementation of school improvement plans inevitably is tied to the campus leader being able to effectively monitor the plan and to see the school make progress towards meeting the accountability system.

2.3. Alignment with Action Research Traditions

The topic of this qualitative study is the development of school improvement plans. This study is seeking to understand how school improvement plans are developed by school administrators at Magnet ISD. Understanding this phenomenon would allow for an understanding of how to increase the capacity of administrators in developing school improvements by effectively addressing the needs of a school organization to influence change and improvement. The qualitative approach and research paradigm chosen for this study is a phenomenological inquiry. A phenomenology "describes the meaning for several individuals of their *lived experiences* of a concept or a phenomenon" in this case the phenomenon being study is the development of the school improvement plan (Creswell, 2017, p. 57). This qualitative study as a phenomenological inquiry tries to describe through an empirical inquiry the development of school improvement plans through the shared and lived experience among the Magnet ISD's administrators, the context of the experiences, and how these experiences affected or influence the development of school improvement plans.

2.4. Theoretical or Conceptual Framework

Whole system improvement can be the result of knowledgeable education leaders driven by outcomes. Educational change or "change theory or change knowledge can be very powerful in informing education reform strategies and, in turn, getting results – but only in the hands (and minds, and hearts) of people who have a deep knowledge of the dynamics of how the factors in question operate to get particular results" (Fullan, 2006, p. 3). A "mix of cooperative responsibility and dispersed leadership", combination of "power with" and "power over," or collective action for "change and improvement, are based not only upon common beliefs, values, visions, passion for improvement and emphasis upon both the personal and the functional, but also are moderated by the organizational context and cultures of the society" (Day & Leithwood, 2007, p. 173). From theory to action, from learning to doing, principals play a crucial role in the continuous improvement to influence educational change.

This study is grounded in social learning and educational change theories by Bandura (1986, 1997, 2006), Lewin (1947), Elmore (2005), and Fullan & Quinn (2016) and the use of the Texas Education Agency's Effective Schools Framework to support the continuous improvement of all Texas schools. These theories through the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) collectively inform my study by the common construct of continuous improvement process driven by school administrators to positively change school systems. Whole system reform through strategic action led by education leaders can define the success of systems.

The Texas Education Agency's Effective Schools Framework (ESF) "supports school and district continuous improvement efforts by providing the basis for the ESF diagnostic process and the foundation for the alignment of resources and supports to the needs of each school" (Texas Education Agency, 2019, p. 1). The overall foundation of the ESF is that strong school leadership and planning can ensure the success of each of the following levers: strategic staffing, high-quality instructional materials and assessments, positive culture, and effective instruction. Additionally, the ESF is grounded in the continuous improvement process with three connected steps including 1) identifying needs, 2) plan, and 3) implement and monitor. These steps are a common construct of continuous improvement processes found within the educational change theories by Bandura (1986, 1997, 2006), Lewin (1947), Elmore (2005), and Fullan & Quinn (2016).

Based on Kurt Lewin's Change Theory, change is a process with three steps: unfreezing, change, and refreezing (Lewin, 1947a). The unfreezing step involves the desire for change by a

change agent who would thoroughly assess the need for change based on data collected and analyzed. The change step would then occur by rethinking processes in an attempt for the system to be innovative and productive. During this step, the change agent would determine the goals, objectives, strategies, and tasks along with implementation, completion, and necessary modifications (Woten & Krakashian, 2021). For the last step, refreezing, establishing policies and processes need to be defined as the outcome of the change. The change agent would need to institutionalize changes in the system until the change is accepted and established (Woten & Krakashian, 2021). As with the ESF continuous improvement process, educational leaders as change agents enact action as in Lewin's three step process to support positive change and improvement.

At the core of the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) is that effective instruction is determined by the collective interactions between teachers, students and content which will determine the learning outcome. According to Elmore, improvement is a process that involves learning, individually and collectively by an organization, it is not linear, and it is "both a technical and social-emotional process" (Elmore, 2005, p. 139). As Bandura explains "unless people believe that they can produce desired effects by their actions, they have little incentive to act or persevere in the face of difficulties" and regardless of other influences, the basis stands with the belief that individual and collective action can effect change (Bandura, 2006, p. 55-56). As defined by Bandura, human agency plays a crucial role in the belief system by school administrators in acknowledging their ability to produce a given outcome by implementing an action (Bandura, 1986, 1997). Part of this improvement process, new knowledge must be gained, embraced, and implemented to advance student achievement and school performance (Elmore,

2005). Collective and individual action towards a set outcome or goal is necessary for the improvement.

Furthermore, "improvement is a continuous, developmental process that requires different types of knowledge and skills at successive development stages" (Elmore, 2005, p. 139). During this process, problem solving becomes part of the process of implementing new strategies to advance specific student learning concerns. Moreover, continuous improvement, learning, and problem solving must be on-going without thinking that practicing the same strategies will continue to produce positive results. Due to various systems of accountability requiring improvement in student achievement and school performance, improvement shifts the learning of educators and challenges their competency in evolving new practices (Elmore, 2005). Likewise, Bandura (1986) states that "an outcome is the consequence of an act, not the act itself" (Bandura, 1986, p. 391). Like Elmore's improvement process, the ESF moves beyond planning and into action which can lead to the desired change and outcome needed in the current educational system. Learning, individually and collectively, plays a crucial point in the process of improvement.

The premise of the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) is that "effective campus instructional leaders with clear roles and responsibilities develop, implement, and monitor focused improvement plans that address the causes of low performance" thus ensuring outcomes that ensure positive outcomes (Texas Education Agency, 2019, p. 2). Based on the ESF, the expectation of campus leaders is whole system improvement being a must to bring positive change. As Bandura, Fullan's perspective of education change is defined as "educational change stands or falls on whether educators, students, and other learners find personal meaning in what they are learning and how they are learning" and summarizes effective change as "effective

change processes shape and reshape good ideas, as they build capacity and ownership among participants" (Fullan, 2016, p. 41). Fullan (2016) defines the process of change to include six essential elements: (1) define closing the gap as the overarching goal, (2) recognize that all successful strategies are socially based and action oriented—change by doing rather than change by elaborate planning, (3) assume that lack of capacity is the initial problem and then work on it continuously, (4) stay the course through continuity of good direction by leveraging leadership, (5) Build internal accountability linked to external accountability, and (6) Establish conditions for the evolution of positive pressure. These steps align to ESF's process of positive outcomes.

Moreover, Fullan (2011) explains that choosing the right drivers is necessary for whole system reform. The drivers to produce positive and effective change "are those that cause whole system improvements, are measurable in practice and results, and for which a case can be made that strategy X produces result Y" (Fullan, 2011, p.1). Fullan and Quinn (2016) defined a coherence framework with the right drivers in successful systems: (1) focusing direction, (2) developing collaborative cultures, (3) deep learning, and (4) securing accountability. For coherence to happen within the ESF, Lewin, and Fullan's framework, leaders are the agents in leading the change, improvement, and success of the system. Similar to the ESF's continuous improvement framework, the Coherence Framework by Fullan and Quinn (2016) distinguishes the first driver as *focus direction* with four elements: (1) purpose driven, (2) goals that impact, (3) clarity of strategy, and (4) change leadership. Focusing directly on student outcomes, Fullan and Quinn's Coherence Framework directly aligns to the development of school improvement plans.

Depending on the contexts and societal demands, the actions principals employ may be different depending in the situations being faced; however, the principals' purposes and the way they act out their beliefs, values and visions in the contexts in which they work make the difference between success and failure (Day & Leithwood, 2007). Schmoker and Willson (1995) state that focusing on results, the process, and the conditions can lead to school improvement. Outcomes and "results will require tough but intelligent decisions from us (educational leaders)" (Schmoker, 2002, p. 13). Educational change knowledge by educators can support systemic improvement in student achievement and school performance with the leadership of principals being change agents in the process.

2.5. Most Significant Research and Practice Studies

Based on the present act, ESSA, the accountability system and standards for principals, the impact expected by campus leaders is to be able to increase the outcomes in part by increasing the campus performance and student achievement. The expectations placed on principals as leaders and reformers of their schools is aligned with the documented positive impact principals have on school performance (Cheng, 1994; Dolph, 2016; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Kushman & Yap, 1999; O'Day, 2002; Pounder, Ogawa, & Adams, 1995). The systemic processes established by the different governing bodies such as the Texas Education Agency and certification requirements as the State Board of Educator Certification elicit an understanding of the expectations for principals to lead schools to successful reform and meeting state and federal performance. Similarly, principals as strong instructional leaders can lead to a positive effect on student achievement (Hallinger & Heck, 1998; Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010; Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi Doris, 2010). Aligned to improved school performance is the expectation of continuous growth in student achievement, increased student learning and teacher learning.

Furthermore, principals being fully aware and having an understanding of the importance of developing, implementing and monitoring school improvement plans is important in the improvement and performance of schools (Graczewski, Ruffin, Shambaugh, & Therriault, 2007; Gallimore, & Goldenberg, 2001; Meyers, & VanGronigen, 2019; Bernhardt, 2013; Sailes, 2008). Principals having an understanding of the importance of school improvement plans as a precursor of direction in meeting state and national standards will support advancing the expectations in school performance and student achievement. Principals understanding the school improvement cycle can support principals to effectively organize school structures to meet expectations (Miskel, Fevurly, & Stewart, 1979). Principals play a crucial role in the improvement of the conditions of schools; thus, their effectiveness as principals needs to be a priority.

2.5.1. Student Achievement

When it comes to improving student achievement in schools, the principal can make a difference (Hallinger & Heck, 1998; Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010; Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi Doris, 2010). Through the years, research has supported that principals can positively impact the quality of schools and student learning (Hallinger & Heck, 2010). Leithwood, Patten, and Jatzi (2010) found that leadership can have a positive influence through four paths towards student learning, either rational, emotions, organization, and family. Each path was composed of variables exercised by the leaders to improve the conditions and effects of students' learning, the organizational path in leadership being the most influential. Similarly, Louis, Dretzke, and Walhstrom (2010) investigated how three different leader behaviors impacted student achievement. The three behaviors were "instructional leadership (which focuses on improving classroom pedagogy), shared leadership (which emphasizes the engagement of leaders at many levels), and trust (which focuses on the importance of emotions and emotional intelligence in motivating high performance) and connect(ed) them to student achievement through their impact

on teachers' work." (Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010, p. 316). The findings were not any different from those established that these leadership variables positively impacted student learning (Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010). In essence, the research recognized that principals play a crucial role in improving student achievement.

2.5.2. School Performance

A crucial factor in school performance is the effectiveness of principal (Cheng, 1994; Dolph, 2016; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Kushman & Yap, 1999; O'Day, 2002; Pounder, Ogawa, & Adams, 1995). Overtime, defining a strong leader or an effective principal has evolved, but has maintained essential components. In 1994, Chen defined a principal having strong leadership as a "principal (that) can be supportive and foster participation for teachers, can develop clear goals and policies and hold people accountable for results, can be persuasive at building alliances and solving conflicts, can be inspirational and charismatic, and can encourage professional development and teaching improvement" (Chen, 1994, p. 299). In his study, he found that "strong leadership is found associated with high organizational effectiveness, strong organizational culture, positive principal-teachers relationship, more participation in decision, high teacher esprit and professionalism, less teacher disengagement and hindrance, more teacher job satisfaction and commitment, and more positive student performance particularly on attitudes to their schools and learning" (Chen, 1994, p. 299). Since 2014, principals must be able to meet the principal's standards that revolve around creating a positive school culture, establishing and maintaining a vision, mission, and goals to improve instruction, the capacity of self and others, as well as, managing data and processes.

Similarly, Hallinger and Heck (1998) described several paths in which principal influence student learning outcomes. The paths "included school goals, school structure and social

networks, people, and organizational culture. In particular, the principal's role in shaping the school's direction through vision, mission and goals came through in these studies as a primary avenue of influence" (Hallinger & Heck, 1998, p.187). Furthermore, the pattern found within the review supported the belief that "principals exercise a measurable, though indirect effect on school effectiveness and student achievement. While this indirect effect is relatively small, it is statistically significant and supports the general belief among educators that principals contribute to school effectiveness and improvement" (Hallinger & Heck, 1998, p. 157). The research continuously suggests that school principals have a positive effect on school performance and effectiveness.

2.5.3. School Improvement

Having a strategic school improvement plan with high expectations for all students can be the precursor to increase student achievement and improve school performance. Effective instructional leaders can lead school reform, growth, and progress by utilizing tools as strategic plans and data to drive instruction so that school improvement can follow (Datnow & Hubbard, 2016). Bernhardt (2013) states that in order for schools to know what is working or not, schools need to use a framework for continuous school improvement and be able to analyze data. Leaders acknowledging the importance of strategic thinking, planning, and focused on improvement through data and the support required for teachers to better understand, use, and transfer their understanding into instructional decisions can increase teacher and student learning (Park & Datnow, 2017). Leaders seeing instruction as an area of focus is critical to school improvement, as well as, seeing the importance in teacher's instructional development is crucial.

Similarly, leaders that place teacher learning at the forefront and who deeply sustain a supportive teacher environment with a culture of collaboration can lead to thoughtful decisions

which can lead to authentic learning for teachers and above all, students (Gornik & Samford, 2018). Placing teacher development and learning as the focus can only improve the quality of instruction. The type of instruction that "evolves around authentic tasks, real-world problems and simulations" which will lead students to develop their thinking into more complex tasks, be able to transfer their knowledge, and be globally competitive (Nicaise, Gibney, & Crane, 2000, p. 80). Effective leaders can positively lead schools to improvement by strategically focusing on a continuous school improvement process focusing on increasing school performance and student achievement.

2.5.4. Supports

Principals play a crucial role in the improvement of the conditions of schools; thus, their effectiveness as principals must be developed and improved. Gaps in the literature exist in this area to ascertain the professional development principals receive once placed in schools and how non-administrative leadership positions as teacher leaders or department leaders have on student achievement and school performance (Archer, 2004). Due to the role principals play in impacting student outcomes, local educational agencies need to recognize that the development of principals is important.

The emphasis must not only be on the recruitment and preservice of new principals, but also once principals are placed in schools; a lack of support to build the capacity of principals still exists even when the vital role they play in increasing student outcomes continues to be evident (Johnston, Kaufman, & Thompson, 2016). Furthermore, the increase and complex situations and problems that schools face certainly requires the need for the continuous development of school administrators (Biesta & Mirón, 2002). The complexity of various situations only leads school leaders and leadership researchers to be more focused on variables affecting student learning as classroom and family when they make school improvement decisions (Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi, 2010). Once placed in schools, the professional development of principals is nonexistent. Knowing the importance that school principals play in school improvement and student achievement, the Texas Education Agency renewed their framework to develop and support principals to be strategic leaders.

In 2014, the new principal standards were developed aligned to the outcomes of improving student achievement and school success. To support principals through these standards, the Texas Education Agency developed a support system that included a curriculum, professional development and an appraisal system aligned to the principal standards. The Texas Education Agency system of support included the Advancing Education Leadership (AEL) curriculum, an appraisal system by title the Texas Principal Education and Support System (TPESS) with an emphasis in the growth and development of principals, and the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) to guide principals through a system of school improvement.

2.5.5. Standards

With the intention of reforming the educational system to purposefully improve student achievement, principal standards did not go unnoticed. In 2014, the latest principals' standards were adopted which were expected to guide the support for training, professional development, and appraisal for principals. Five standards were set as follows.

- Standard 1--Instructional Leadership. The principal is responsible for ensuring every student receives high-quality instruction.
- Standard 2--Human Capital. The principal is responsible for ensuring there are highquality teachers and staff in every classroom and throughout the school.

- Standard 3--Executive Leadership. The principal is responsible for modeling a consistent focus on and commitment to improving student learning.
- Standard 4--School Culture. The principal is responsible for establishing and implementing a shared vision and culture of high expectations for all staff and students.
- Standard 5--Strategic Operations. The principal is responsible for implementing systems that align with the school's vision and improve the quality of instruction (Texas Education Code, Commissioner's, 2019).

Through the establishment of the 2014 standards, the Texas Education agency set the expectations for principals to meet in order to improve student achievement and school success.

2.5.6. Training

The Texas Education Agency developed the Advancing Educational Leadership

(AEL) curriculum addressing seven strands aligned to the principal standards with five emerging conceptual themes that principals must know and be able to do as follows:

- Creating Positive School Culture
- Establishing and Sustaining Vision, Mission, and Goals
- Developing Self and Others
- Improving Instruction
- Managing Data and Processes

The seven strands from the AEL curriculum were aligned to the standards as follows.

- Curriculum and Instruction—Principal Standard: 1(A)(i)
- Data Gathering and Analysis—Principal Standard 1(A)(ii)
- Goal Setting—Principal Standard 2(A)(i) and 5(A)(i)

- Effective Conferencing Skills—Principal Standard 2(A)(ii)
- Conflict Resolution Skills—Principal Standard 3(A)(i)
- Team Building Skills—Principal Standard 5(A)(ii)
- Teacher Coaching and Mentoring—Principal Standard 3(A)(ii)

The AEL curriculum guided principals in their professional development and growth in meeting the standards leading them one step closer in fulfilling their principal certification.

2.5.7. Appraisal System

Using the standards as a guide, the Texas Education Agency developed the Texas Principal Education and Support System to support principals in improving student achievement and school productivity (Texas Education Agency, Texas, 2019). The following are the aligned standards.

- Standard 1: Instructional leadership. You are responsible for ensuring every student receives high-quality instruction.
- Standard 2: Human capital. You are responsible for ensuring there are highquality teachers and staff in every classroom throughout the school
- Standard 3: Executive leadership. You are responsible for modeling a consistent focus and personal responsibility for improving student outcomes.
- Standard 4: School culture. You are responsible for establishing and implementing a shared vision and culture of high expectations for all staff and students.
- Standard 5: Strategic operations. You outline and track clear goals, targets, and strategies aligned to a school vision that continuously improves teacher effectiveness and student outcomes.

Standard five is aligned to this study in that developing strategic operations is an expectation to continuously focus on student outcomes and achievement through goals, targets and strategies aligned to the school vision (Texas Education Agency, Texas, 2019). In essence, TPESS outlines the responsibilities and expectations of principals in leading schools to success.

2.5.8. Professional Development

Similarly, the Texas Education Agency developed the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) to provide guidance to districts and schools in providing an "excellent education for all Texas students" with an emphasis for instruction as the connection between students, teachers, and content as the connection to the determinant of student outcomes. Furthermore, ESF provided a diagnostic process and framework grounded in the continuous improvement process that included three steps- identify needs, plan, implement and monitor (Texas Education Agency, 2019). The following are the five prioritized levers found within the ESF.

- Prioritized lever 1 Strong school leadership and planning
- Prioritized lever 2 Effective, well-supported teachers
- Prioritized lever 3 Positive school culture
- Prioritized lever 4 High-quality curriculum
- Prioritized lever 5 Effective instruction

Based on the priorities of the levers, ESF identifies that strong school leadership and planning as the top priority and explains that at this level "effective campus instructional leaders with clear roles and responsibilities develop, implement, and monitor focused improvement plans that address the causes of low performance" (Texas Education Agency, 2019). The Effective Schools Framework provides the guidance for improvement, while, identifying the role of the principal in this process a top priority.

2.6. Closing Thoughts on Chapter II

Schools are complex systems. The role of principals is complex as are schools; however, the intent of their role has been reformed to be ready and able to continue to positively impact students and schools. Over fifty years of policy reform have led to the continuous assertion that principals make a difference in student learning and the quality and development of schools (Hallinger & Heck, 2010). Researchers have concluded that principals can positively impact school performance (Cheng, 1994; Dolph, 2016; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Kushman & Yap, 1999; O'Day, 2002; Pounder, Ogawa, & Adams, 1995). Principals having the knowledge and expertise to lead their schools to meet state and federal mandates, as well as district expectations are vital to the success of schools. The lack of expertise and experience from principals to guide schools through systemic improvement and advancement can be detrimental not only to the school, but students and the district as a whole. Furthermore, principals can have a positive effect on student achievement (Hallinger & Heck, 1998; Louis, Dretzke & Wahlstrom, 2010; Leithwood, Patten, & Jantzi Doris, 2010). Students are the priority of all schools. Every school mission reflects the advancement of education and student learning. Principals are central in driving every school's mission; in essence, principals understanding their critical role in fulfilling the goals of the school mission will inevitably impact the achievement of students. Not fulfilling the mission's goal breaks the intent of education and student learning. Aligned to the role that principals play in school performance and student achievement is the importance that principals need to give to systemic and strategic school improvement. Principals having the knowledge of implementation, development and monitoring of school improvement plans is critical in the improvement and performance of schools (Graczewski, Ruffin, Shambaugh, & Therriault, 2007; Gallimore, & Goldenberg, 2001; Meyers, & VanGronigen, 2019; Bernhardt,

2013; Sailes, 2008). The lack of systemic processes to drive the improvement process in schools can lead to the failure of schools and student progress. Ultimately, the outcome will be a lack of educational advancement. The role of the principal is crucial in impacting school performance and student achievement.

Through my ROS, I will examine the experiences of administrators in the development of school improvement plans. It is still unclear from the research how to effectively build the capacity of school leaders to positively impact schools and students. For my study, I will examine how school improvement plans are developed in my district and I will collect data on the experience administrators have in engaging in purposeful planning for school improvement. The outcome expected is to develop practices to support administrators and campuses through the development of school improvement plans for strategic and purposeful planning. My focus is the development of principals for systemic change to positively impact student achievement and school performance.

CHAPTER III: SOLUTION AND METHOD

3.1. Proposed Solution

We live in an evolving educational system where our prompt awareness and action for continued improvement, performance and advancement of our schools and students is a must. In our educational system, school improvement plans can support systemic action. School improvement plans are living documents that can drive change in a campus. Through strategic improvement planning, administrators identify targeted data-driven objectives, goals, and activities. However, administrators need explicit training in the development of school improvement plans through purposeful strategic planning. A deficiency in experience and knowledge from administrators in strategic planning may lead to insufficient improvement in the development of organizational operations, processes, and positive outcomes. Furthermore, a lack of support and capacity building for new school administrators in the development of improvement plans can hinder improvement in teacher and student learning and campus success. Overall, administrators hold an important role in influencing student and campus success. In response, my ROS aimed to to understand best practices in developing school improvement plans and use the findings from this study to develop a gide for districts to develop school improvement plans.

3.2. Outline of Proposed Solution

Before developing an artifact focused on developing improvement plans, I needed to fully understand the current contexts and needs of school administrators as they were developing school improvement plans. Therefore, this study aimed to understand the lived experiences of school administrators at Magnet ISD in developing school improvement plans. The findings of this study were used to inform an artifact as an informative tool to build the capacity of school administrators to strategically plan for school improvement.

3.3. Justification of Proposed Solution

The data analyses aligned with the sampling and data collection, research questions, purpose and design led to develop a full understanding of school administrators' lived experiences of campus improvement plans by answering the question: How do secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD developed school improvement plans? The research generated themes that led to a holistic view of the phenomenon as perceived by the school administrators which resulted in addressing the areas of need for capacity building of school administrators in the development of school improvement plans.

3.4. Study Context and Participants

For this study, the sample was six administrators within the Magnet Independent School District that were directly in charge of the development of the school improvement plan. Magnet Independent School District is composed of four high schools, two middle schools and one virtual secondary school grades six thru twelve. For this qualitative study, the sampling strategy used was purposeful sampling to gain a better insight of the phenomenon. The sample was one administrator per secondary school within the Magnet Independent School District that was directly in charge of the development of the school improvement plan, equaling up to six participants. Although the development of the school improvement can be a collaborative effort within a school, to best serve the intent of the study and develop a holistic understanding of the entire school district, the administrator that was selected per school was the administrator directly in charge of completing the campus improvement plan. To gain access, the superintendent of the Magnet ISD was presented with the intent of the research as well as the value of the research to the organization. Once I was allowed by the superintendent, the prospective participants were approached with the intent and the value of the research and the importance their participation could bring to the organization. I was open and honest to questions by the potential participants, and I worked towards building rapport with the potential participants to eventually be immersed fully with the participants' environment.

3.5. Research Paradigm

The topic of this qualitative study was the development of school improvement plans. This study sought to understand how school improvement plans were developed by school administrators. Understanding this phenomenon allowed for an understanding of how to increase the capacity of administrators by effectively addressing the needs of a school organization through problem-solving skills to influence change and improvement.

Phenomenology "describes the meaning for several individuals of their *lived experiences* of a concept or a phenomenon" in this case the phenomenon being studied is the development of the school improvement plan (Creswell, 2017, p. 57). Bloomberg and Volpe define phenomenology as a "way of thinking that emphasizes the need for researchers to achieve an understanding of their participants' worlds from the participants' points of view and the ways in which (the) participants make sense of the world around them" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, p. 96). Using phenomenology as this study's research method led to developing an understanding of the lived experiences across the participants in developing the school improvement plan "in order to identify the core essence of human experience or phenomenology is hermeneutics addressing the interpretation of texts plus the analysis of the researcher's own experiences as part of the data (Merriam, 1998, p. 159). The purpose of this study was to develop

an understanding and insight to inform professional practice in developing school improvement plans within the Magnet Independent School District.

This study as a phenomenological inquiry tried to describe through an empirical inquiry the development of school improvement plans through the shared and lived experience among the participants, the context of the experiences, the interaction of texts, and how these experiences affected or influenced the development of school improvement plans. The natural and bounded setting of this study was six of the seven secondary schools within the Magnet Independent School District and the participants were "selected intentionally" due to their "capacity to provide detailed information, based on their unique experiences and perspectives" (Billups, 2021, p. 3). The participants were school administrators acting as school principals or assistant principals that were directly involved in development of school improvement plans within the schools. To gain a thorough picture of the development of school improvement plans by the participants an inductive exploration was conducted and various data sources were collected, analyzed, and triangulated to allow for a holistic view of the phenomenon.

3.6. Data Collection Methods

For this study, the data collection methods included interviews, textual artifacts, and a reflective journal. The textual artifacts included past and present school improvement plans and the interviews collected were a maximum of two interviews per participant.

3.6.1. Interviews

The primary source of data was a maximum of two interviews per participant. The structures of the interviews were open-ended semi-structured interviews with questions prepared in advance with room for probes based on participant's response and based on text-elicited probes to generate conversations from texts selected by the participant or the researcher such as

past school improvement plans and data reports. Each interview was a minimum of ninety minutes. The interview questions for the two interviews are found on Appendix A and B. Conducting open-ended semi-structured interviews allowed for the participants to respond in ways that they "define(d) the world in (their own) unique ways" plus "this format allow(ed me) to respond to the situation at hand, to the emerging worldview of the respondent, and to new ideas on the topic" (Merriam, 1998, p. 74). The data collection included a maximum of two interviews per participant where participants were able to share their knowledge of developing school improvement plans and what texts they used to inform their decisions in the process of developing the school improvement plan, as well as any challenges they encountered. Furthermore, participants were asked within the interviews about the process they planned in preparation for collaborative and faculty meetings to make collaborative decisions to culminate in the construction of the school improvement plan.

3.6.2. Textual Artifacts

The textual artifacts that were analyzed were past and present school improvement plans, state accountability reports and campus data reports. Analyzing these texts allowed me to review any type of patterns found within the texts and in comparison, between campus improvement plans developed through the years. Furthermore, these texts were used during the interviews with the administrators to elicit how these texts were used or not in the development of school improvement plans and to further understand the process that administrators followed in the use of these texts. The assumption of hermeneutics is "the connection between the reader and the text derives the interpretation" plus the assumption can be made that the "the author of a text can make connection to readers in various situations through the interaction of the reader and the author's text" (Bhattacharya, 2017, p. 69). A venue to understand the author's intent of each

school improvement plan was a hermeneutic circle to understand the "smaller parts of an idea with the intent of gaining an in-depth understanding of the whole" and the continued intent situating the author and the text in their own unique context (Bhattacharya, 2017, p. 69). The essence of school improvement plans is a diagnostic process that brings various pieces of evidence of improvement together to form a strategic plan. Understanding how school administrators developed the school improvement plan, presently and in the past, and within their unique contexts led to an interpretation grounded within Magnet ISD.

3.6.3. Research Journal

A research journal was kept through the inquiry process to document my thoughts and hunches and to track my thinking. The journal was a resource and a process of documenting and discovering what experiences the participants had with the development of the school improvement and what contexts shaped how the participants experienced school improvement plans. Part of the intent of the research journal was to "include an analysis of (my) own experience as part of the data" being that as a researcher I positioned myself as a full participant (Merriam, 1998, p. 159). The research journal or "analytic memo writing documented (my) reflections on: coding processes and code choices; how the process of inquiry was taking shape; and the emergent patterns, categories and subcategories, themes, and concepts in the data" (Saldana, 2016, p. 44). The research journal allowed me to reflect and think about my own thinking throughout the inquiry and analysis process that led to opportunities for in-depth connections and provided direction.

3.7. Justification of Instruments

Various sources of data were collected so that a full and complete interpretation could be provided of the phenomenon and the needs of administrators could be addressed through an artifact or framework to build their capacity as strategic leaders. The collection tools that were used for this study were interviews, texts, and a research journal. The use of the various data instruments used to explore the research questions in this study and the triangulation of these data tools supported the validity and credibility of the findings (Merriam, 2009). By using the three data tools – interviews, texts, and the research journal – and analyzing the data collected through cross-checking of the instruments led to triangulation. For example, the three data instruments were cross-checked against each other from what a participant shared in an interview, to what was found in texts, and notes within the research journal. Additionally, since the role that I played in the observation data was full membership, another strategy that was employed for internal validity was member check-ins so that the emerging findings were true interpretations of the people I interviewed (Merriam, 2009). Employing triangulation of multiple data resources and member check-ins allowed me to use data as a whole to support

3.8. Data Analysis Strategy

Through phenomenological inquiry, I sought to understand how the participants made meaning of the various data, findings, various goals, and strategies encompassing the school improvement plans to fulfill the campus mission. Through interviews, text-elicited conversations, and the research journal, I explored how participants developed the school improvement plan by interacting and exposure to connected components.

Before starting data collection of interviews and texts and through the process of epoche, I explored my "own experiences, in part to examine dimensions of the experience and in part to become aware of personal prejudices, viewpoints, and assumptions" later bracketed these assumptions as the data collection process started (Merriam, 2009, pg. 25). As explained by Moustakas, the epoche process is the "preparation for deriving new knowledge but also as an experience in itself, a process of setting aside predilections, prejudices, predispositions, and allowing things, events, and people to enter anew into consciousness, and to look and see them again, as if for the first time. This is not only critical for scientific determination but for living itself—the opportunity for a fresh start, a new beginning, not being hampered by voices of the past that tell us the way things are or voices of the present that direct our thinking" (Moustakas, 1994, pg. 3). Noting my assumptions of the phenomenon of the development of school improvements in my research journal allowed me to continuously revisit my past assumptions, have an open mind and focus on the essence of the lived experiences by the participants of the phenomenon.

Moreover, through phenomenological reduction, my task was that of "describing in textual language just what one sees, not only in terms of the external object but also the internal act of consciousness, the experience as such, the rhythm and relationship between phenomenon and self. The qualities of the experience become the focus" (Moustakas, 1994, pg. 6). Through continuous reflection, my prior views were bracketed, and bracketing the focus of the study, the qualities as described by the lived experiences of the participants were documented. As Moustakas explicitly explained "in the process of explicating the phenomenon, qualities are recognized and described; every perception is granted equal value, nonrepetitive constituents of the experience are linked thematically, and a full description is derived" (Moustakas, 1994, pg. 10). This process allowed me to discover the phenomenon as lived by the participants.

Additionally, through the process of horizontalization, the data was examined and treated with equal value at the beginning of analysis to later arrange into thematic units through imaginative variation (Merriam, 2009). Through imaginative variation as Moustakas explained, the task is to "seek possible meanings through the utilization of imagination, varying the frames of reference, employing polarities and reversals, and approaching the phenomenon from divergent perspectives, different positions, roles, or functions" (Moustakas, 1994, pg. 11). The intent of analyzing the interviews by positioning myself in different roles and perspectives further allowed me to arrive at the essential descriptions by participants of their lived experiences in developing school improvement plans.

Through an interpretive process of a hermeneutic phenomenology stance, semi-structured interviews and texts were conducted as data collection tools and analyzed to develop an understanding of the lived experiences of school administrators in developing school improvement plans. The intent of using the "interpretive process (was) to gain an understanding of the meaning of everyday experience to offer plausible insights about our interactions with the world we live in" (Dibley, Dickerson, Duffy & Vandermause, 2020, pg. 3). Understanding the stories from the participants and the world that influenced their experiences allowed me to interpret their lived experiences in developing school improvement plans. Moreover, as the researcher and being an instrumental tool in this analysis, I continuously reflected in my journal my own experiences with the texts derived from the interviews and the various school improvement plans gathered from the context and questioned my own understanding of the phenomenon through the texts based on my past assumptions which allowed me to expand my own reflections.

The analysis process that was utilized was the hermeneutic circle which "is an ongoing, non-linear, circular and iterative process, going from the parts to the whole and back again in a rigorous, circular process of questioning, writing and thinking, in which data is instrumental to accessing understanding" (Dibley, Dickerson, Duffy & Vandermause, 2020, pg. 7). After

46

conducting the interviews, I transcribed the interviews in a two-column format which allowed me room for analyzing the conversation by coding the statements to later circling the text to explore any emergent themes. Once I collected all the data from the different participants, the next process that I took was to "dwell in the data" from the various conversations to create links and connections among them for emergent themes (Dibley, Dickerson, Duffy & Vandermause, 2020). Rereading and analyzing the transcriptions of the conversations and continuously circling through the process and my own thinking led to interpretations of connecting themes.

To collectively analyze the data, I used the constant comparative method to "make sense out of the data" which involved "consolidating, reducing, and interpreting what people had said and what the researcher had seen and read – (being) the process of making meaning" (Merriam, 2006, p. 175-176). While developing meaning, the goal was to see "the world through their eyes and understanding the logic of their experience" to bring a fresh insight (Charmaz, 2006, p. 54). Based on the constant comparative method, I looked for patterns by using the constant comparative method to analyze the information gathered to determine the differences and similarities through a cross-comparison chart to later find themes within patterns seen in the data (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). The constant comparative method supports inductive coding to develop themes and categories. Using this method allowed for coding the open-ended responses of the interviews of the lived experiences of administrators to refine them to conceptual segments of data, to later refined them to codes that led into overarching or recurring themes (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). Using the constant comparative method and my engagement in the process of "making comparisons between data, codes, and categories" developed my conceptual understanding of the lived experiences of the participants (Charmaz, 2006, p.179). I continued to use the research journal to document the analysis process as findings emerged.

Furthermore, I did a content analysis of the transcribed participants' interviews and their school improvement plans to find any relationships against the Effective School Framework (ESF) and the emergent themes found in the transcripts of the interviews. Krippendorff (2004) defines content analysis as a technique to "take content to *emerge in the process of a researcher analyzing a text* relative to a particular context" (p. 19). In this stance, the texts considered were the individual improvement plans from each participant's school and the transcripts of the transcribed participants' interviews. By analyzing the texts within each context, I was able to make associations among the texts that led to inferences within each participant's context within my study. As Krippendorff (2004) states, one must "construct a world in which the texts make sense and can answer the analyst's research questions" (p. 24). Systematically bringing the various inferences together to answer the intended research questions led to the connections among the emerging themes among the texts.

Through interviews, texts, and the research journal, I sought to understand how the participants developed school improvement plans by interacting and the exposure to connected components. The phenomenological inquiry process along with a hermeneutic interpretive process and content analysis were utilized to analyze interviews and texts, as well as the constant comparative method to holistically analyze the data. The data was analyzed by looking for patterns to determine the differences and similarities among data in order to find themes. A cross-comparison chart was utilized to find themes within patterns seen in the various sources of data.

3.9. Timeline

The duration of this study was a four-week period with the following activities outlined below.

48

- Met with Superintendent for collaboration on selecting a purposeful sample from each school
- 2. Documented continuously on researcher journals
- 3. Hosted one meeting with all six administrators directly in charge of developing the campus improvement plan for awareness of the intent of the study, the importance of their participation, answer any questions they might have so that I could start building rapport to eventually be fully immersed in interpreting their environment, and created a timeline of study activities for each school independently as times for interviews.
- 4. Preparation for data collection:
 - Collection of texts from the six campuses of Magnet ISD to included campus improvement plans and Texas Academic Performance Reports (TAPR) from the past two years for analysis
 - b. Developed the common questions for semi-structured interviews
 - c. Developed open ended questions for the text-elicited conversations
- 5. Scheduled and conducted individual interviews and text-elicited conversations
- Transcribed each interview and text-elicited conversation immediately and initiated data analysis in two-way format for coding
- Conducted member check-ins for accurate interpretations for each interview and conversation
- 8. Analyzed texts as historical documents for any patterns, similarities, and differences
- 9. Managed and organized all data records to easily circle back and forth between each collection by rereading and continually reflecting on my own thinking

- Brought all data records to analyze holistically using the constant-comparative method
- 11. Created a cross-comparison chart to fully interpret findings from the data collection
- 12. Conducted peer-examination activity of study by a peer with the same context of the study
- 13. Hosted a meeting with Superintendent to present findings and artifact

3.10. Trustworthiness Concerns

Concerns for trustworthiness in this qualitative study stand in that the findings were the outcomes of the responses by the participants and the interpretations by the researcher as a full participant as a current administrator at Magnet ISD. The context of this research and currently being a school administrator at Magnet ISD were also part of the concerns of trustworthiness of this study thus allowing for biases and presumptions I could make as a researcher but also by the participants based on my dual role. To alleviate these concerns, research strategies for validity and reliability of this study were addressed through the criteria of credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Lincoln and Guba, 1986). The research strategies that were employed in this study were triangulation, member checks, audit trail, discrepant case analysis, and peer-examination.

3.10.1. Credibility

Being able to calibrate the findings and interpretations of the participants by the researcher was necessary for my study to be credible. To show credibility, the "participants' perceptions match up with the researcher's portrayal of them" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, pg. 202). Triangulation of the data was one of the primary strategies for credibility of this study in that multiple sources of data were collected and analyzed for similarities and differences to

develop units of patterns that eventually lead to emergent themes. Another strategy that was utilized to show credibility was the researcher's journal to document my position, my bias and assumptions bracketing the focus of the study and the constant reflection of my thinking throughout the research process. Moreover, being fully and continually engaged in the data collection with thick descriptions of what I heard, saw, and read to convey what the participants' responses plus member checks through the data collection and analysis process that led to credible findings. Another strategy that was employed in the data collection process was negative or discrepant case analysis to "purposefully seek data that might disconfirm or challenge (my) own expectations or emerging findings" (Merriam & Tisdel, 2016, pg. 249). Using this strategy to challenge any dispositions by the researcher can certainly lead to other emergent themes that otherwise would not have been sought. Furthermore, peer-examination and debriefing of this research findings were used to support credibility of the study. The research strategies specific to this study that addressed the issue of credibility were triangulation, journaling, data engagement, and peer-examination.

3.10.2. Dependability

For a study to be reliable, the research process must achieve dependability meaning that the data must show stability and consistency over time (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, pg. 204). Through the researcher's journal, an audit trail was used to detail the sequences of the research process and procedures taken along with detailed field notes when the data was collected. Part of the researcher's journal was used as a reflecting tool for the researcher to circle and dwell in the data and cross reference the data collection through triangulation. To further address dependability, peer-examination and debriefings were used to ascertain the researcher's consistency in the interpretations and findings.

3.10.3. Confirmability

To show confirmability in this study, I continuously strived to achieve the focus of the study being the lived experiences of the participants and not base it on biases or assumptions. Confirmability was shown using the strategies of triangulation and the researcher's journal. Confirmability requires the "researcher to demonstrate how conclusions have been reached" and to establish that the "researcher's findings and interpretations are clearly derived from the data" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, pg. 204). Documenting in full detail in the researcher's journal served for confirmability which created an audit trail of how the decisions were made and documented my engagement in the entire research process through reflective practices. Additionally, confirmability was reached through triangulation of the data which further demonstrated how the findings were reached.

3.10.4. Transferability

The goal of this qualitative study was "not to produce "truths" that (could) be generalized to other people or settings but rather to develop descriptive context-relevant findings that (could) be applicable to broader contexts while still maintain content-specific richness (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, pg. 205). Lessons learned from this study was one of the ultimate goals I was looking for as an outcome. Part of the transferability of this study depended on the detailed information found within the description of the context, the purposeful sampling strategy, data, and findings of this study (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Detailed descriptions throughout and within the study will allow for readers to decide if any of the aspects of this study can be applicable within their setting.

3.11. Closing Thoughts on Chapter III

Through a phenomenological inquiry, I sought to understand how school administrators within Magnet ISD developed school improvement plans and how they made meaning of the various texts encompassing school improvement plans to fulfill the campus mission. Through interviews, texts, and the research journal, I tried to understand how participants developed the school improvement plan by interacting and exposure to connected components of strategic plans. The researcher being a primary data tool, I kept a reflection journal throughout the research process. Documenting my own thinking and processes by keeping a researcher's reflection journal allowed me to reflect continuously on the research process, continuously circling and dwelling on the data for emergent findings based on congruent interpretation by participants and acknowledging my own biases and any preconceived assumptions when making interpretations. Continuously reviewing, analyzing, and writing throughout the research process with the use of the journal plus other strategies as members checks led to a more accurate interpretation of the data (Lincoln, 1986). Aside from reflective journaling and member checks, other research strategies that were employed to alleviate trustworthiness concerns were the triangulation of data, full engagement in data analysis, and peer-examination throughout the research process.

53

CHAPTER IV: SOLUTIONS

4.1. Introducing the Analysis

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the lived experiences of administrators in developing school improvement plans at Magnet ISD (MISD). Understanding the phenomenon of developing school improvement plans can lead to a better-informed perspective in designing improvement plans. Through constant comparative comparison and the use of a cross comparative charts, I analyzed the data by "comparing sections of text and noting similarities and differences between the sections" and extracting "essences", experiences, and reoccurring themes (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019, p. 234). In this chapter, I will report the analysis of the data collected, the key findings of this qualitative study, and the alignment of the key findings to the Texas Education Agency's Effective Schools Framework and the educational change theory.

4.2. Presentation of Data

This qualitative study aimed to understand how school administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans by exploring their shared and lived experiences, the context of the experiences, and how these experiences affected or influenced the development of school improvement plans. Six administrators were interviewed as follows:

54

Table 1

Participants	Principal	Asst.	Years of Administrator	New to MISD	Experience at other ISDs
		Principal	Experience	MISD	other ISDs
Robert		v			
Robert		X	5-10		
Josie		Х	10-15		Х
Belinda		Х	0-5	Х	Х
Nancy	Х		10-15		Х
Joe	Х		0-5		
Sandra		Х	0-5		

Participants'(P) Role and Experience

The main question pursued for this qualitative study was the following:

How do secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans?

The subset questions explored were the following:

- a. How do the participants describe their experiences in developing school improvement plans and any associated challenges?
- b. How do administrators describe the contexts or situations that influenced or affected their experiences in developing the school improvement plan?

Five major findings emerged from this qualitative study as follows:

- 1. Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs.
- 2. Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data.
- 3. Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders.

- 4. Most participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan.
- 5. Most participants expressed collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan.

4.3. Results of Research

This study was designed to explore the lived experiences of Magnet ISD's administrators in developing the campus improvement plan. Through phenomenological inquiry, the collection of semi-structured interviews became a primary resource in the analysis of data. Through the interpretive process, I was able to understand the current state of how current administrators develop school improvement plans which will lead to the possible solution of a framework or tool to support the current administrators in the district in the future development of school improvement plans. Before presenting my findings, I will first present the results of the content analysis of participants' interviews and school improvement plans.

4.3.1. Results of Content Analysis of Interviews

For each participant, I analyzed the transcribed interviews against the components of the ESF framework, which were the establishment of a campus committee, identifying the campus needs, an actual improvement plan exists, and evidence of implementation and monitoring of the plan. Table 2 shows the content that was covered by each participant's interview and how their responses aligned to TEA's Effective Schools Framework (ESF) in developing a campus improvement plan.

Table 2

<i>ESF Components</i>	Ref	lected	in I	Participants'	' Interview F	Responses
-----------------------	-----	--------	------	---------------	---------------	-----------

ESF Component	Robert	Josie	Belinda	Nancy	Joe	Sandra
Campus Committees	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Identify Needs		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Plan	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Implement and Monitor		Х	Х	Х		

Participants' experiences with creating a campus improvement plan were varied. Robert was involved in the process, Belinda was not involved in the process at MISD since she was hired this year, and Sandra has been employed with the district for the past ten years but has not been involved or is aware of the process to develop the campus improvement plan as followed by MISD. Robert noted the main changes that occurred was that, unlike other years where only the administration would develop the school improvement plan, committees were developed to collaborate, collect, and analyze data, and develop the campus improvement plan. Based on Josie's interview, she has had the most experience in being involved in the development of the campus improvement plan from her role as a teacher to now an administrator. Through her experience and roles, she along with her stakeholders, grew to understand the importance and the value of the campus improvement plan and being part of the development of the actual plan.

Similarly, participants Belinda and Joe have grown with their roles from being involved to leading the development of the campus improvement plan. Both have experienced the hardships of establishing change and shifting the mindset of a campus. Unlike other participants, Belinda expressed that being a female has made it harder to enact change. She attributed these experiences to communities where she has worked and in comparing the different communities, she attributes the reluctance to change, schools and communities with high poverty levels, low socioeconomic status, low levels of education, and a pattern of males holding high ranking roles.

Due to opening a new campus, Nancy has had massive experience to develop a campus improvement plan, one which was not in existence and could not be replicated as what has been a normal practice of updating an existing one. She resorted to communication with her peer administrators from sister schools, researching, and asking stakeholders for their feedback on their needs due to having no data as a baseline. Like Nancy, Sandra made the connection of administrators needing the support and a framework that can assist in developing the campus improvement plan with purpose and not just one more item in the "to-do" list.

Table 3 provides an overview of the comparison of the ESF components against each participant's campus improvement plan. The only component not revealed in any of the campus improvement plans was the documentation of campus committees. Not a single plan documented the campus committees nor members that collaborated to develop the campus improvement plan. In the interviews and as shown on Table 2, all except Sandra mentioned that committees were in place and collaborated to develop the campus improvement plan. Except for Nancy, all campus improvement plans had data documented, problem statements and identifiable root causes. Based on the interview with Nancy, a campus needs assessment was not conducted at this campus because it did not exist, and the 2021-2022 academic year was when the campus was developed. Regarding the overall plans, all campuses had a plan; however, not all could be determined to be constructed in a manner that was acceptable by state and federal standards. The campus improvement plans for participants Robert, Josie and Belinda were well developed having measurable goals, strategies, evaluation data sources, expected results and impact, individuals

responsible for monitoring, and identification of Schoolwide and Targeted Assistance Title I Elements, TEA Priorities, and ESF Levers.

Regarding Joe and Sandra, plans do exist; however, both were not developed based on the needs ascertained in the campus needs assessment addressed in each plan but were only copied from the district improvement plan. Both plans have identified needs with goals and some strategies set by the district and documented on the plans, but did not identify the following elements: strategies, evaluation data sources, expected results and impact, individuals responsible for monitoring, and identification of Schoolwide and Targeted Assistance Title I Elements, TEA Priorities, and ESF Levers.

Table 3

Campus Improvement Plan Analysis per Participant

Improvement Plan	Robert	Josie	Belinda	Nancy	Joe	Sandra
Component						
Campus Committees						
Identify Needs	X	Х	Х		Х	Х
Plan	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Implement and Monitor	X	Х	Х	Х		

4.3.2. Findings Related to the Development of School Improvement Plans

The main question pursued for this qualitative study was the following: How do secondary school administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans? The analysis of the data yield key findings in relation to this question and aligned to the characteristics of social learning and educational change theories by Bandura (1986, 1997, 2006), Lewin (1947), Elmore (2005), and Fullan & Quinn's (2016) educational change theory and TEA's Effective Schools Framework (ESF). Most participants expressed that they developed the campus improvement plan by involving all stakeholders in the process of identifying specific and targeted campus

needs based on campus data. Involving and collaborating with all stakeholders provided stakeholders a voice in the process of developing campus goals and continuously monitoring and adjusting the plan to improve student outcomes and campus improvement. Three major findings aligned to the primary question were as follows:

- 1. Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs.
- 2. Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data.
- 3. Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders.

All participants except Robert connected the development of the campus improvement plan to the needs of students and the instruction of students. Robert did not mention the development of the campus improvement plan involved gathering data to develop the needs assessment and he did not remember the use of state and federal accountability data reports being used; however, he did mention that developing the campus improvement plan was to develop strategies.

Robert's career and experience had been only at MISD as a teacher and administrator. He was hired by the previous district and campus administration and his experience in developing the campus improvement plan has evolved. As he explained,

this past school year it was a little bit different in the sense that yes administrators were involved but not to the point where it was developed only by administrators. It was developed by the department leaders and the grade level leaders. They were all given a section of the campus improvement plan and then we put it all together, so like I said it wasn't only involving the admin like it used to be. He further explained that data is an area that they "weren't really too much into (being) a datadriven district". Based on my interview with Robert, data was not a driving factor to address the needs of the campus or district, and any components of the campus improvement plan were devised by the administrators. For Robert, the collection of data and using the data to guide the development of the campus improvement plan had changed since last year with the direction from new campus and district administration as he explained,

by looking at the data. Looking specifically, targeting a specific area where you want to improve, so you must go deep and see it again. Okay, what is your data telling you? What is the trend that you have from a previous year to the current year? And see what is the strategy that you're going to use to reach a specific goal or target?

Josie was relatively new to the district and has had experiences as a teacher, dean of instruction, and assistant principal. Based on my interview, Josie had always been involved in developing the campus improvement plan based on her revolving role from a teacher to now an administrator and based on those specific times, her role evolved from having input into leading the development of the current campus improvement plan. As she explained, she had led the development of the campus improvement plan for her campus.

Oh, our campus improvement plan is very data-driven. Depending on the committee, depending on the data that they're using, ... I mean down to gender ...changes if the needs of our campus have changed due to demographics and I know that now we're doing the audit for the university so we're also using that data in order to help us with our campus improvement.

Furthermore, Josie explains that all the departments were able to have input and a voice in developing the campus improvement plan. Based on my observation, she exerted confidence,

knowledge, and self-reflection by specifically explaining the development of the campus plan and changes she planned to incorporate based on last year's process by even giving stakeholders a voice in the development process "because they themselves came up with the (idea of intermixing department members) and that's the way that we're doing it this year. Every department (will have) a member in all the committees that way that particular department or that representative can go back to the department" and give updates.

Belinda was new to MISD. She had diverse experiences that ranged from elementary to high school in various districts. Based on my interview, she had experiences in developing the campus improvement as she explained,

well, I can't talk about my current school because I wasn't involved in that process but with my previous campus it was very much by grade level heads... different stakeholders giving their input...and really going based off need and coming up with the campus improvement plan.

She seemed to be well versed in using data being that she previously worked with a school grant and based on our interview, she looks forward to understanding the process used at MISD. She further explained that "data drives instruction and data drive the need for the campus and so that's a huge component, looking at data. Our needs assessment was predominantly driven by data".

For Nancy, MISD was her second district she had worked with and where she was hired to build and lead the virtual academy last year. As she mentioned in her interview, she was used to developing the campus improvement plan by building from the previous year's plan; however, for her, she had to start from scratch. She started by doing "some research on how (her) sister campuses were developing their (plans) and asking questions as how you included this one thing that you purchased into your CIP. Also talking to the different stakeholders to see what they would like to see implemented". For Nancy, the campus improvement plan

should all be based on data and whatever our needs of our campus are. Where are we? What are our strengths? What are the students' needs based on data such as any kind of surveys... data is really going to drive our CIP as far as what's working and what's not and where we need to invest a little more funds.

Joe started his fourth year as an administrator and his third year as a principal in the same school. As with Robert, his only experience has been at MISD and the process of developing the campus improvement was new to his campus. After his first year, he described collecting and analyzing qualitative and quantitative data, looking at the "numbers and then based on the numbers we developed the questions that we had to ask" and

look at the things that we need to be looking at like our demographics, like our assessments, like our partnerships, and our instructional resources and let's determine what is needed based on what our stakeholders are telling us and what the data is telling us. More importantly, as well, what is data telling us about our strengths so that we can reinforce those things and what are the weaknesses so that's how we started it last year.

Furthermore, he explained that part of their development of their campus improvement plans was to get everyone involved from community members, school committee representatives, affiliates, and partners to discuss and develop the campus improvement plan.

Sandra started her career at a different district and then was hired as a teacher at MISD where she was eventually hired as an administrator three years ago. Like Robert and Joe, before this district administration, she did not work with data, nor the campus improvement plan. Unlike any of the other participants, Sandra had never been involved in the campus improvement plan due to having school changes or administrator changes. In the past three years, she had four different principals and has been moved twice to different schools. As far as campus improvement plans, she explained that she:

absolutely think(s) that (the campus improvement plan) it's supposed to play one of the biggest roles...you've got to be pulling your data constantly because you need to know what you would have as needs...or what is the data is saying is going on and then what part of instruction is it affecting...what decisions do we need to make as administrators as campus principal to say, okay then this money needs to be allotted here because this is an area we need to grow in.

Although Sandra did not actually have the experience of being involved or leading the development of a campus improvement plan, she seemed to be aware of some of the steps in the process of the development of a plan.

Except for Sandra, all participants had been involved in the development of the campus improvement plan, and most expressed that stakeholders need to have a voice and be part of the development of the campus improvement plan. Additionally, aside from Robert, most expressed that campus data determines the needs that need to be addressed in the campus improvement plan and data drives the development of the campus improvement. All except Robert and Joe expressed the use of data to continuously monitor and change the campus improvement plan based on need.

4.3.3. Findings Related to Participants' Experiences

The subset question explored and related to the participant's experiences was the following: How do the participants describe their experiences in developing school improvement plans and any associated challenges? The finding that emerged was the following: Most

participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan. Based on their experiences through the years, the participants indicated a need for a systemic framework to develop the campus improvement plan. They indicated that having a process or framework and time to reflect would have facilitated an effective and strategic campus improvement.

Robert defined his experiences as challenging but found it positive to "finding that specific area that we wanted to improve." During our interview, he mentioned that they:

Weren't really too much into (being a) data-driven district and as we are moving forward, it was a little bit challenging trying to gather that data and they (district administrators) were looking at the data. Like I said, are you going to target a specific area, a specific content, a specific population of students? So yeah, there has been some challenges.
As he explained, they were not "too much into analyzing the data" and that doing so became

"challenging not only for me (him) but for other staff members."

Unlike the other participants, Josie was very reflective and expressed several connections in improving the process as she either listened to stakeholders' needs and as she developed the plan. For this participant, "experiences and data pretty much go hand in hand except for certain areas where it was like, huh, you know we thought we had fixed it or at least improved it, but it wasn't to where we thought" it needed to be. Her best experience in developing the campus improvement was that the actual process helps with the:

school culture because you're bringing together individuals that might not be brought together naturally or normally on their own for the process. We start to discuss very sticky situations and areas that at least my teachers are extremely passionate about. It opens up conversations, and you start seeing the way people think, their opinions, their point of views, so I honestly do think that an impact that I have seen besides the goal of the campus improvement plan.

While developing the campus improvement plan, her greatest challenge was "taking people's time"; however, eventually she realized that people wanted to be involved and be part of the process. She realized that being part of the process changed the people's "mentality which had been a huge impact, and again I do see the impact of it with our culture and our teachers. Their guard is not as high, giving them a voice to be involved, and feeling involved" supported the positive school culture.

While interviewing Belinda, she expressed that "in education it is still very hard to be a woman. I think that as females in education, we're still making strides, but at the end of the day, sometimes duties get handed to men". For Belinda, the experience of not being allowed to take on duties because males are seen as more qualified "has been the toughest to witness". This experience was not common among the other participants and would be something to further analyze.

Nancy expressed that being able to understand and review data was the most important process in her experience. Analyzing data helped her campus identify their needs and continue to grow. She stated that normally schools focus on reading and math; however, her campus data made them aware that reading and writing was not a campus need. Although reading continues to be a focus, data allowed them to see that other areas needed more focus and funding such as realizing that their scores had "flipped flopped... English language arts scores were amazing and our(their) math scores were suffering as well as their science". Like the other participants, she believes that data drives instruction. She further expressed that receiving feedback from the different stakeholders supported a change in mindset and real focus. Unlike the other

participants, Nancy expressed that she would like to see educator programs incorporate the development of campus improvement plans as part of learning in their courses. Once in the field, they:

talk about how a campus improvement plans need to be in place, but how do you develop it? What do you do to refine it and what data do you look at? How is it conducted and how do you do you edit it? All those questions are really important, but they are never addressed or rarely addressed in those leadership classes... I think that's something that definitely needs to be included in as we start to educate our future leaders on what it takes to build a campus and how to develop a campus improvement plan.

As stated before, Nancy had opened a new virtual school for Magnet ISD from "scratch" and in turn, had developed the campus improvement plan from "scratch". She exerts confidence, knowledge, and success in her answers, and because she sees the campus "improvement plan [as] the heart of our campuses", I was able to see her passion to drive the vision of her campus through the campus improvement plan and the need for future leaders to be trained and learn how to develop a campus improvement plan.

As the interview moved forward with Joe, he grew more reflective, taking time to think and answer. He mentioned that the experience he had in developing the campus improvement plan could be explained by being "frustrated, confused, confident, and hopeful". For Joe, data was important, however, the data does not give you the whole story of students. As he stated, it was "frustrating because you look at a student on paper and you're like this kid is doing amazing, but why are they always in trouble? Why are they always in the counselor's office? Why are they always crying?" For him, becoming a new principal to his campus and "shifting the paradigm' was the biggest challenge. His goal was changing the mindset of the school being "only a place for top kids and if they're not at the top when they get here, then this is not the place for them". Spending two years and going on three years of his leadership, shifting the paradigm of the purpose of his campus, and transitioning into a leader that listens to stakeholders and having those tough conversations has brought about his confidence in moving in the right direction and he is hopeful in seeing improvement. He further expressed that he liked being a participant for this study because:

it allowed me to reflect on things and talk about things that I usually don't get to have conversations like this all the time. We're so busy ...this forced me to talk more deliberately about school improvement plans. It allowed me to really stop and think of some of the things that we did. Just hearing myself talk about it, I know what I could do differently next year. I'm coming up with ideas already.

Although Sandra has been administrator at MISD, she has not been part of any of the processes involved in developing the campus improvement; however, she did express as "administrators we all need to grow and improve on". Through her interview, I was able to see honesty in her answers and at times confusion as she would question herself of the process and the development of the campus improvement plan. She questioned, "when is it that we should already be starting on the new one for it to cover the 23-24 school year? Shouldn't it be like around January, February?" She further asked, "so last year, were they already letting you know (principals) that this needs to be worked on, the needs to be submitted for the 21-22 for the 22-23 school?" She stated that she didn't "know how it worked. What was being communicated to you as principals, but I guess for me that's important. The structure needs to be there more". She explained that she didn't think she had experienced the process but being part of the interview was making her reflect when "do we start ours?" and that she needed "to be very intentional with

what [she was] going to bring to the table." She felt that "if we had a framework with all these processes that need to happen when you're doing the campus improvement plan" would benefit her and every administrator. When she expressed, she had no experience, she would continue to reflect and then she stated that by having a framework, then the administrators would be able to do the process:

we get everybody's insight; use the data and I don't know if you agree, but I don't put everything on there because you won't be able to reach all those goals, right? It needs to be something attainable like a smart goal. Something that is realistic, and I guess, if you're going to put one on there, that's going to take time when we need to indicate that it's going to be something that's going to take several years.

Based on this participant's interview and the participant being an administrator shed light on the inconsistency this participant has had in campus leadership and changes in the district.

Overall, the experiences and challenges that the participants expressed in developing the campus improvement plan allowed them to see the importance or the need to implement a framework to establish a process that could be followed. Furthermore, as expressed by some of the participants, administrators would benefit in learning a framework with processes to develop the campus improvement plan.

4.3.4. Findings Related to the Participants' Context

The second subset question for this study was the following: How do administrators describe the contexts or situations that influenced or affected their experiences in developing the school improvement plan? The finding related to this question was that most participants expressed that collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan. Participants expressed that their knowledge and

effectiveness in developing the campus improvement plan grew through the years based on the role they played in their school and their involvement as a stakeholder.

Except for Sandra, most participants expressed that their individual efficacy increased positively as Joe stated, "I've gotten better and personally I think we as a team have gotten really good at it" although at times the experience had been frustrating but helpful in that data might say that "kids (are) doing very well and then they're having breakdowns, they're suffering from anxiety, and that needs to be something that you look at too when you develop your school improvement plan" so it has "been frustrating but also hopeful because it means that we're determining what we need and if we know what we need then we can work toward it and we can respond to it."

Robert expressed how being able to see growth was one of the positive impacts that changed his perspective as he mentioned, when "you see growth even though like I said we were not 100% data-driven but just looking from one year to the next there were some areas that we saw growth" that transformed in some cases to providing more experiences to students. As he explained,

throughout the years, with the experience, you start seeing things different -what worked, what didn't work, how can I improve in a specific area. Like I said, this past school year was very different for me because I was learning something different, being done differently and involving more stakeholders. In a way, I feel that I guess that's the way that we should do it so that everybody has a voice when developing this plan because it's a campus plan, and not an admin plan...everybody's got to voice their needs, their concerns, and we're able to add something new too.

70

Josie's experiences have evolved through the years and as an administrator now, she has connected more to the importance and value of a campus improvement plan. As a teacher, she saw the development of the plan as one more thing to do and administrators needing for her to write an area of the plan as she stated,

I'm going to be very honest, I didn't see the importance of it as a teacher. I just saw, "Oh my gosh, I'm getting extra work". As an administrator, that's when I saw the importance of it and because of my experience as a teacher and not seeing the importance of it, as an administrator I do try to explain to those that are involved in the campus improvement plan the importance of why they're involvement is important.

Furthermore, she explained that her most impactful experience is when,

My committee members were 50 teachers or community members. When they have their aha moment! When they realize why they're there...they get to learn a lot, you get to learn why certain things change, why certain things get more funding than others, how you can get something that you have been needing if you can tie it to your campus improvement plan.

For Belinda, her perspective has changed from being a "contributor to being the conductor that puts it all together from the needs assessment to rolling out". She further explained:

I think being a part of it not as a classroom teacher but as a grant funding member of the team and even as a leadership team member my perspective has changed since then greatly. I think that that experience was unique because it was my introduction to all of this. When you have different roles, you will have very different perspectives, so my role

has changed. As I've advanced in my career, I've experienced different things, but that will forever be the most influential.

After spending nineteen years in the same district, Nancy moved to Magnet ISD. Changing to this new district changed her understanding of her role as a principal due to change in setting from a "brick to a mortar campus", adapting to the requirements of the new district, and adjusting to how different districts interpret what the state and federal government expects. As she explained, the most impactful and influential experience in building the campus improvement plan was due to "maybe the location or the context that you're in.... these last couple of years have been very eye opening. Sometimes we get into this almost like a cycle of using the same programs and using the same CIP item number". However, she had to create her virtual campus from scratch; thus, she had to create the campus improvement plan from scratch. She had to learn how to connect all their campus needs to the CIP from creating line items to their new programs, tutoring and instructional tools not found in a traditional CIP. As she stated, it was "not as easy. It has been the most impactful for me to really understand it and be able to say, oh we can just put it under this (line item or goal) like well there's nothing there. We have to create it... so, it's been very impactful this year to really develop a campus improvement plan from the ground up." In developing the campus improvement plan, getting the feedback from teachers, talking to her colleagues, and collaborating with her fellow principals in how they manage their CIP supported her into creating a CIP that was best suited for her students' mode of virtual learning.

For Joe, the most impactful experience was "practicing decentralized command." Before being an educator, Joe worked in the private sector. In the public sector he "would practice decentralized command" meaning, the most impactful is being around the kids, being around the teachers, being around the parents and listening and having conversations and sometimes you must have difficult conversations.... that's been the most impactful and just gives me that perspective and allows me to respond to what it is that the campus needs.

Sandra had been with the Magnet ISD for eleven years and has not had many experiences in developing the campus improvement plan; however, with "experience and time [she] was able to be the IB coordinator and help coordinate the program and that was an administrative position and then that also led to an opportunity of becoming an assistant principal." Other than a sixmonth transfer to a sister school, she has spent her time at only one school with several administrators overtime and as she explained this move was "the only real change that I've seen but it does shed light on different systems that are in place at certain schools that already that have had consistency as a clear vision versus maybe coming back to somewhere where it's had several administrators over time that is still looking for its purpose, its vision, its mission." In her six-month transfer, she realized that "there's a lot I don't know but a lot to learn about how the systems of a school" work and being "intentional with what was going to be on the CIP [Campus Improvement Plan]."

As participants grew in their experience and knowledge over time, their understanding of the campus improvement plan importance grew as well. Similarly, knowing, involving, and collaborating with all stakeholders allowed for most participants to develop a campus improvement plan better suited to meet the needs of their students. Through the years, the increase in collaboration, experience, and knowledge led most participants to increase their collective and individual efficacy in developing the improvement plan.

4.4. Interaction Between the Research and the Context

Magnet ISD has had significant changes since 2018 when a new superintendent replaced an administration that had been situated in the district for over twenty years. Over a five-year span, every school has seen a change in leadership from the principal to assistant principals. Most administrators are new or have led their campus for less than three years with some schools having a minimum of two principals to a maximum of four principals in a period of five years. The context of this study fits into the perspective of the crucial role principals play in improving student achievement and campus success. The principal leading the process and guiding the process of the development of the school improvement plan based on the district's direction, vision, and campus needs can lead to an effective implementation of an action plan to lead to improvement at the student and campus level.

4.4.1. How did the Context Impact the Results

Changes in administration at MISD led to the operational issue in the selection of participants that were engaged in development of the campus improvement plan. In four out of the seven schools, the administrators that developed the school improvement plan were no longer employed with Magnet ISD. Additionally, out of the four schools at least two of the schools had completely new administration. Based on my own experience at Magnet ISD and working with three different schools in my five years within the district, my perception of any reluctance of the new administrators to MISD was to being overwhelmed to the change of leading a high performing campus, the lack of systems within the campus, and the culture inhibited by the mobility and retention of administrators. Although several attempts were made, one out of the seven schools chose not to participate. After a first round of interviews, I was not able to reach three out of the six original participants and eventually they chose not to participate. Eventually, I met with the other administrators from the three schools, and I was able to engage with them to

74

be part of my study. Time constraints to their duties was the reason given by the new participants as to their peers not being able to engage with the study.

4.4.2. How did the Research Impact the Context

The reactions from the participants translated to a positive impact of this study in that the interviews led to the participants to reflect on their work and practices in developing the campus improvement plan. As Sandra stated,

These questions are really insightful. Maybe it's something that every administrator team should think about before they start working on it and that way you get a background and context of what everybody understands and knows when it comes to CIP especially if you're bringing in outside community members to help you. It's good to have prior knowledge and this will already have them understand the ways that they need to be thinking. These interviews gave me that thought process. These are good questions. you should share them.

For this participant, the interviews made her realize connections that she had not connected before such as the impact of the budget and what to do besides just having data. She felt that not many people knew how to develop the campus improvement plan and she "definitely would love to become more knowledgeable in how to make those connections in how to develop it, what do I use, what is justifiable" or not. Like Sandra, Joe stated,

I like the fact that I participated. It allowed me to reflect on things and talk about things that I usually don't get to have conversations like this. All the time we're so busy so I want to share that I thought it was a positive experience. The other thing though is that it forced me to talk more deliberately about school improvement plans. It allowed me to really stop and think you know some of the things that we did and it just hearing myself talk about it you know what I could do that differently next year. I'm coming up with ideas already.

Overall, all participants felt that their participation made them reflect on their practices and how to further themselves in their knowledge in developing a campus improvement plan. Furthermore, aside from Sandra's suggestion of sharing the interview, Nancy stated that she would like to see current preparation certification or university programs teach our "future leaders... how to develop campus improvement plans".

4.5. Summary

In summary, this study resulted in five findings from the analysis of the data collected by exploring the lived experiences of Magnet ISD's administrators in developing the campus improvement plan. Through phenomenological inquiry, the collection of data from interviews, texts, and the research journal, I was able to understand the current state of how current administrators at Magnet ISD develop school improvement plans. The five findings were the following:

- The need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified campus needs.
- 2. The importance of various types of data to drive the development of campus improvement.
- 3. The importance of including feedback from stakeholders.
- 4. The need for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan.
- 5. The collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan.

Participants expressed that the purpose of the campus improvement plans was to bring positive student outcomes and campus improvement by addressing the campus needs through collaboration of all stakeholders. Furthermore, the participants expressed the need for a system or framework to develop the campus improvement plan that would positively impact their knowledge, and the positive development and implementation of the campus improvement plan. Moreover, the participants conveyed that their knowledge and efficacy of developing school improvement plans grew through the years and the role they played as stakeholders. As they grew in their efficacy, they also grew in understanding the importance of providing a voice to all stakeholders which led to an increase of collective efficacy in developing a campus improvement plan that supported continuous improvement in student performance and campus success.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

5.1. Summary of Findings

The results found through this study aligned to the research question of how

administrators develop school improvement plans based on their lived experiences. Five findings were found as follows:

- 1. Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs.
- 2. Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data.
- 3. Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders.
- 4. Most participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan.
- 5. Most participants expressed collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan.

Findings one, two, and three emerged from the main question of how school improvement plans. Participants expressed that they developed the campus improvement based on campus specific and targeted needs based on campus data and they developed goals to be met to improve student outcomes and campus improvement. Furthermore, participants expressed the need to include all stakeholders in the development of the campus improvement plan. Finding number four addresses the first subset question related to participants' experiences in development of school improvement plans. Based on their experiences through the years, the participants indicated the need for a systemic framework to develop the campus improvement plan. They indicated that having a process or framework would have facilitated an effective and strategic campus improvement. Finding number five addresses the second subsequent question related to the contexts or situations that influenced or affected the participants' experiences in developing the school improvement plan. Participants expressed that their knowledge and effectiveness in developing the campus improvement plan grew through the years based on the role they played in their school and their involvement as a stakeholder. From not involving stakeholders to increased stakeholder collaboration, the development of the school improvement plan revolved into a collaborative effort. The findings resulting from this qualitative study were aligned to the research problem of the lack of a systematic process for positive improvement and school administrators lacking strategic skills necessary to enact timely educational reform.

5.2. Discussion of Results in Relation to the Literature

The results of this study aligned to the literature reviewed as part of this study. In the literature, Hallinger and Heck (2018) among other researchers found the importance of the effectiveness of the principal in leading the charge of the positive direction of schools (Cheng, 1994; Dolph, 2016; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Kushman & Yap, 1999; O'Day, 2002; Pounder, Ogawa, & Adams, 1995). Thus, the effectiveness of principals must be developed and improved. Gaps in the literature exist in this area in establishing the professional development principals need when leading schools focused on the improvement of student achievement and school performance (Archer, 2004). As expressed by the participants of this study, the need to support principals through a sustainable system or process to develop the school improvement plan is necessary. Although after 2014, the Texas Education Agency revamped the standards and the training to meet the new appraisal system by administrators seeking certification, once certified,

districts must continue to support principals in leading school improvement. As Nancy stated, being that the campus

improvement plan is the heart of our campuses to never to be addressed or rarely addressed in leadership classes, it's just a disservice to those trying to learn to be in this (administrative) role, so I think that's something that definitely needs to be included in as we start to educate our future leaders on what it takes to build a campus out of the development of a campus improvement plan.

Following the Effective School Framework as a support system for principals to lead school improvement, the steps defined by ESF for the continuous improvement process include 1) identifying needs, 2) plan, and 3) implement and monitor which are common constructs of the continuous improvement process found within educational change theories by Bandura (1986, 1997, 2006), Lewin (1947), Elmore (2005), and Fullan & Quinn (2016). As Fullan states, "whole-system improvement is the ultimate goal of the new meaning of educational change. A policy driver is a policy and an associated set of strategies designed to bring about positive change in the system. ... whole- system reform is just that—100% of the system" (Fullan, 2016, p. 41). Fullan (2016) specifically addresses the following drivers for whole system improvement that are closely aligned to the five prioritized levers of the Effective School Framework

- (1) fostering intrinsic motivation of teachers and students,
- (2) supporting continuous improvement of instruction and learning,
- (3) encouraging collective endeavors or teamwork, and
- (4) affecting all teachers and students—100% (p. 41-42)

Participants that have had the experience of being part of developing the school improvement plan expressed that the development included addressing the needs of the students and instruction, and overall campus needs while creating goals driven by the data collected based on the needs to lead positive change and improvement in student outcomes and campus improvement. These findings aligned to the ESF's first two steps of identifying needs and planning and Fullan's drivers of supporting continuous improvement affecting the whole system.

Fullan states that "effective change processes shape and reshape good ideas, as they build capacity and ownership among participants" (Fullan, 2016, p. 41). One experience that through the years influenced and affected the participants' experiences in developing the school improvement plan was the involvement or lack of involvement of their school stakeholders. As the participants gained experience and grew in their roles, participants realized that the development of the campus improvement plan was not only in the hands or lenses of the administrators but a collective effort among all stakeholders including teachers and students. They realized that including all stakeholders allowed for the whole system to have a voice in the plan which in turn allowed ownership of the stakeholders to work towards results.

Furthermore, as they grew in their role and through collaboration amongst the stakeholders, their individual and collective efficacy grew to support greater improvement. This practice aligned with Bandura's definition of collective efficacy- "a group's shared belief in its conjoint capability to organize and execute the courses of action required to produce given levels of attainment" (Bandura, 1997, p. 476). As Donohoo & Katz (2019) state on "the power of collective efficacy—the belief that a team can accomplish its goals despite difficult circumstances... they can positively influence student achievement, regardless of some of the difficult circumstances faced in schools today, the results can be very powerful" (Donohoo & Katz, 2019, p. 15). As Leithwood and Jantzi (2008) found "school leaders' collective efficacy

was an important link between district conditions and both the conditions found in schools and their effects on student achievement" (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2008, p. 496).

Growing on their own practices came as the participants developed their own learning through time and their growing roles in the development of the campus improvement plan. The participants expressed that due to the interviews of this study, they grow due to the reflection that prompted them to think about their current and future practices in developing the campus improvement plan. Their reflection suggests that as a "learning leader—one who models learning, but also shapes the conditions for all to learn on a continuous basis" they continue to build their individual and collective efficacy of others (Fullan, 2014, p. 9). Furthermore, based on their responses, their intent has grown to impact the educational system collectively and positively.

5.3. Discussion of Personal Lessons Learned

This qualitative study had great implications in my own practice as a current principal and aspiring central office administrator. A personal commitment to my vocation is student and campus growth. Listening to the different participants made me reflect on how to improve my own practice as an instructional leader in leading the campus improvement plan.

One of the realizations that I had is the continuous commitment to communication and involvement of stakeholders is part of the success of developing the campus improvement plan. Creating a partnership with all stakeholders results in a driving force in meeting the mission for the campus. Together, being open to truly assessing the campus needs assessment based not only on quantitative data as state reports, but qualitative data such as surveys and focus groups, can really give us the opportunity to address what the numbers are not able to provide us. As the participants shared, I, too, found communication and collaborating with stakeholders to be the hardest tasks early in my career which are essential to be successful. Today, I know that once the partnership is created, then a mutual commitment to the school mission will lead to success.

The second realization is the understanding that the campus improvement plan is not just one more thing to do but a driver for improvement. The plan must be a living document that continuously needs to be visited and revisited to meet yearly goals. One of the major responsibilities of my role as a principal is to build the capacity of personnel and I must hold myself responsible to educate stakeholders and communicate a consistent and efficient process for further understanding of the campus improvement plan and make it a standard of practice to continue the implementation of strategies, progress monitoring, and evaluation.

5.4. Implications for Practice

5.4.1. Implications for Context

As expressed by participants, one implication that this study suggests for Magnet ISD is the need for the development of a continuous improvement process or framework. Based on the outcomes of the interviews, there is no systemic process currently that can support administrators to "lead learning and to maximize impact whereby the system as a whole dramatically improves" (Fullan, 2014, p. 14). A second implication is the need to continuously educating administrators using the new standards and supports developed by the Texas Education Agency (TEA) in 2014 as the Advancing Education Leadership (AEL) curriculum, the Texas Principal Education and Support System (TPESS) and the Effective Schools Framework (ESF). Educating administrators in the responsibility their role carries through systemic professional development and growth in developing a campus improvement plan can positively drive schools to continuous improvement in student achievement and campus success.

5.4.2. Implications for the Field of Study

The findings of this study suggest various implications for the field of study. Collective efficacy was expressed by participants to have occurred overtime while they grew in their role or moved up the ranks in their organization. This finding aligns to the lack of understanding of the crucial role that principals play in being the "learning leader" that drives all stakeholders to a collective effort in school improvement of the whole organization that is continuous and not a one-time event (Fullan, 2014, 2016; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Bandura, 1997). Current administrators must be able understand and practice the standards expected of principals set by the Texas Education Agency and the State Board for Educator Certification. With this finding, further research is suggested in understanding how educator certifications programs and renewing certifications practices support the efficacy of current administrators.

Another finding in my study was the need for a continuous improvement framework that administrators could be trained on to support them in developing the campus improvement plan. This finding suggests that in the context of my study there is no defined method of developing improvement plans district wide. Administrators in this context lacked guidance for a cohesive systemic process to develop the improvement plan. This finding suggests that although the Effective Schools Framework (ESF) to support administrators in the continuous improvement process has been in effect since 2014 by the Texas Education Agency, the ESF framework is not being utilized in my context of study. This implies that further research needs to be conducted on what effective practices are being utilized by districts to support continuous improvement plans such as the use of logic models or frameworks. Plus, this finding suggests further research in the areas of which frameworks are most effective in the improvement plan process and how to best educate administrators in leading the practice of improvement frameworks at their schools. Moreover, another implication for further research is how district administrators see their role in

84

the continuous improvement of not only the district but also individual schools and administrators.

5.5. Lessons Learned

My hope is that this study involves a support system for current and future administrators within my context. Through this study and my own reflection, I have realized that there has been a lack of support for administrators to embrace improvement as a goal of education. Certification programs and practices need to support administrators in defining the role of being an administrator and holding ourselves to meet high expectations in student achievement and campus improvement as Bernhardt states "it is about providing a new definition of improvement, away from compliance, toward a commitment to excellence" (Bernhardt, 2013, p. 5). Once certified and given the opportunity to be a principal, district administration needs to support principals through professional development in the continuous improvement process. Districts must understand that collective efficacy links the district to campuses as principals to their school stakeholders. As expressed by participants as a need in my study, the results found in Leithwood and Jantzi's study suggested that district leaders are

most likely to build the confidence and sense of collective efficacy among principals by emphasizing the priority they attach to achievement and instruction, providing targeted and phased focus for school improvement efforts and by building cooperative working relationships with schools. (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2008, p. 496). And, as stated by Bernhardt, "an organizational shift away from a singular focus on compliance, toward a true commitment to improvement through a shared vision is required" (Bernhardt, 2013, p. 5). Once we collectively understand that we thrive through a shared vision in the continuous improvement of teaching and learning for all, results are bound to be positive.

5.6. Recommendations

Study findings suggest four recommendations for school leaders about school improvement plans. First, using various data to drive the development of the continuous improvement plan and continuously monitor the data and modify it based on identified needs is important. Second, providing a voice to all stakeholders and including their feedback are essential in the development of the school improvement plan. Third, a sustainable system, process, or support in developing the campus improvement plan is beneficial. And lastly, the collaboration between stakeholders can lead to collective and individual efficacy that can positively influence the development of the school improvement plan. Based on the findings from this study, continuously supporting and guiding school leaders in continuous school improvement can support schools and increase their capacity in their role.

My first and primary recommendation is for administrators to develop their own understanding of how to construct a campus improvement plan and the importance of their role in the entire process of continuous improvement. The first step in this recommendation is to develop our own understanding of the importance of the campus improvement by asking questions such as the following: What is a campus improvement plan? Why is the campus improvement plan improvement plan important? What is my role in the campus improvement plan? What are the essential components in developing the campus improvement plan? What makes a campus improvement plan successful? What skills do I need to develop or improve to effectively produce continuous campus improvement using the campus improvement plan? One of the resources that can support this process of personal growth is studying the work of Victoria L. Bernhardt regarding continuous school improvement through data analysis and Michael Fullan's work on maximizing impact through educational change. By building our own knowledge and skills in developing and implementing school improvement plans can lead us to better "Gallant efforts" as V. L. Bernhart states when leading the development of the campus improvement we need to "figure out how to work smarter, not harder, and get better results" (Bernhart, 2004, p. 17). As an example, Bernhart recommends gaining commitment of stakeholders, knowing how to analyze summative data as a beginning step, then being able to analyze other types of data such as demographic and perceptional data, followed by having a full understanding of current school practice, and the most critical component is having a continuous improvement process (Bernhart, 2004, p. 17-18). This process would entail data-driven decision making and not only a clear and shared vision but inspiring a shared vision by strong leadership as she states,

It takes a strong leadership to inspire a shared vision and to ensure its implementation. It also takes a strong leader to ensure analysis and use of data. A continuous improvement process can ensure all professional development is focused on implementing the vision; that partners, such as parents, understand their roles in implementing the vision and helping students learn; and that there is a continuous evaluate n to know how to improve an ongoing basis to reach school goals (Bernhart, 2004, p. 19).

My second recommendation is to create a framework or a process to develop the campus and district improvement plans with a timeline that is continuously reviewed and evaluated. Creating a framework or process to develop a continuous improvement plan along with professional development to support leaders in learning the process will encompass the findings of this study. The key word in the framework or process is continuous. The significance of continuous monitoring and use of the campus improvement plan as a living document must be an ongoing force essential in the framework to yield continuous improvement. In the instance that a unique framework in the district does not exist, the recommendation is to utilize the resources available by the Texas Education Agency (TEA). The resources that are recommended to be used are the following:

- 1. Effective Schools Framework
- 2. Campus Needs Assessment and Planning Guidance
- 3. Targeted Improvement Plan Rubric

The Effective Schools Framework (ESF) will provide the essential actions for success plus steps for continuous improvement. The Campus Needs Assessment and Planning Guidance will provide the guidance to define the campus needs based on campus data collected, develop the campus plan based on the needs assessment, and implement and monitor the plan through the year. The Targeted Improvement Plan Rubric will provide the guidance to create an effective plan that meets state and federal guidelines required for campus improvement plans. Likewise, based on my personal experience and findings of this study, I have developed a framework found in Appendix C that could be utilized to guide an understanding of continuous planning for improvement.

Continuous professional development for principals and administrators is my third recommendation. Simply providing professional development for teachers might not be enough to support long term improvement or success in schools without the proper guidance from an effective principal. Like mentorship programs for teachers, a recommendation is to develop a mentorship program or support system for new principals, as well as create opportunities for principals to collaborate continuously in the use of effective improvement practices. Part of this process can include collaboration and partnering with universities to help identify research-based strategies and approaches that can help address identified needs. Part of any of these support systems or plans is to support administrators in familiarizing themselves with the newest standards and systems relevant to their role as the resources by the Texas Education Agency. A recommendation is to educate administrators on the responsibility and role that administrators play by creating a principal profile unique to the district based on the principal standards. Having a principal profile can support administrators in better understanding the unique and crucial role they play as part of the district's vision.

5.7. Closing Thoughts

The role of the principal is a crucial component in improving student achievement and school performance. Professional development of the principal is necessary, more so in the new areas of principal standards established in 2014 and the Texas Education Agency's resources to support schools in the continuous improvement process. Building the capacity of the principal in understanding their role and their responsibilities in creating positive change and outcomes is necessary as well as understanding a process or framework for continuous improvement. Based on the continuous evolution of educational reform, principals as change agents in our current education system can support the improvement of teaching and learning; thus, maximizing their individual efficacy to influence collective change in student achievement and campus success.

My hope is that the findings of my study can lead to building the capacity of our current and future administrators within my own context. Personally, I have grown in my own practice as a principal. As an aspiring future district administrator, this study has allowed me to reflect and better understand the importance of research practices and traditions to continue to improve in my leadership skills in continuing in my passion for improvement, accessibility, and equity in education.

REFERENCES

- Archer, J. (2004). Major Study to Identify What Good Leaders Do Right. *Education Week*, 24(2), 8.
- Bates, R. (2013). Educational administration and the management of knowledge: 1980 revisited. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 45(2), 189-200. DOI:
 10.1080/00220620.2013.768970
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived Self-Efficacy in Cognitive Development and Functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2802_3
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Going global with social cognitive theory: From prospect to paydirt. In S. I.
 Donaldson, D. E. Berger, & K. Pezdek (Eds.). Applied psychology: New frontiers and rewarding careers (pp. 53-79). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Biesta, G. J. J., & Mirón, L. F. (2002). The new discourses on educational leadership: An introduction. *Studies in Philosophy & Education*, 21(2), 101–107. Retrieved from https://doi-org.srv-proxy2.library.tamu.edu/10.1023/A:1014449519643
- Billups, F. D. (2021). *Qualitative data collection Tools: Design, development, and applications*.Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Bernhardt, V. L. (2013). Data analysis for continuous school improvement. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bernhardt, V. L. (2004). continuous improvement: it takes more than test scores. *Leadership*, *34*(2), 16–19.

- Bloomberg, L. D. & Volpe, M. (2019). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). *Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis*. London: Sage Publications.
- Cheng, Y. C. (1994) Principal's leadership as a critical factor for school performance: Evidence from multi-levels of primary schools. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 5(3), 299-317, DOI: 10.1080/0924345940050306
- Chenoweth, K. (2009). How it's being done: Urgent lesson from unexpected schools. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Datnow, A., & Hubbard, L. (2016). Teacher capacity for and beliefs about data-driven decision making: A literature review of international research. *Journal of Educational Change*, *17*(1), 7-28. doi:10.1007/s10833-015-9264-2
- Day, C., & Leithwood, K. (2007). Successful principal leadership in times of change: An international perspective. *Building and sustaining successful principalship: Key themes* (pp. 171-188). Springer.
- Dibley, L., Dickerson, S., Duffy, M. & Vandermause, R. (2020). Data analysis and interpretation. In *Doing hermeneutic phenomenological research: a practical guide* (pp. 113-134). SAGE Publications Ltd, https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781529799583
- Dolph, D. (2016). Challenges and opportunities for school improvement: Recommendations for urban school principals. *Education and Urban Society*, 49(4), 363–387. DOI: 10.1177/0013124516659110

- Donohoo, J., & Hite, S. A. (2021). Addressing Inequity with the Power of Collective Efficacy. *Educational Leadership*, 78(6).
- Donohoo, J. A. M., & Katz, S. (2019). *Quality implementation: Leveraging collective efficacy to make what works actually work.* Corwin Press.

Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) of 1965, 20 U.S.C § 6301.

- Elmore, R. F. (2005). Accountable Leadership: Essays. The Educational Forum, 69(2), 134-142.
- Forte, E. (2010). Examining the assumptions underlying the NCLB federal accountability policyon school improvement. *Educational Psychologist*, *45*(2), 76–88. https://doi-org.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/10.1080/00461521003704738
- Fullan, M. (2009). Leadership Development: The Larger Context. *Educational Leadership*, 67(2), 45–49.
- Fullan, M. (2011, May). Choosing the wrong drivers for whole system reform: Summary of seminar series paper no. 204, *Centre for Strategic Education*.
- Fullan, M. (2014). The principal: Three keys to maximizing impact. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated.
- Fullan, M. (2016). The NEW Meaning of Educational Change: Vol. Fifth edition. Teachers College Press.
- Fullan, F. & Quinn, J. (2016). Coherence: The right drivers in action for schools, districts, and systems. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Gallimore, R., & Goldenberg, C. (2001). Analyzing cultural models and settings to connect minority achievement and school improvement research. *Educational Psychologist*, 36(1), 45–56. https://doi-org.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/10.1207/S15326985EP3601_5

- Gibson, J. M. E. (1999). Review article: Doing research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing (Wiley-Blackwell)*, *30*(3), 773. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1999.1143f.x
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine.

Gornik, R., & Samford, W. L. (Eds.). (2018). Creating a culture of support for teacher leaders: A vision for change and hope. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu

- Graczewski, C., Ruffin, M., Shambaugh, L., & Therriault, S. B. (2007) Selecting and implementing whole school improvement models: A district and school administrator perspective. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, *12*(1), 75-90. DOI: 10.1080/10824660701247283
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (2010) Collaborative leadership and school improvement:
 Understanding the impact on school capacity and student learning. *School Leadership* and Management, 30(2), 95-110. DOI: 10.1080/13632431003663214
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (1998) Exploring the principal's contribution to school effectiveness: 1980-1995. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 9(2), 157-191.
 DOI: 10.1080/0924345980090203
- Johnston, W. R., Kaufman, J. H., & Thompson, L. E. (2016). Support for instructional leadership: Supervision, mentoring, and professional development for U.S. school leaders: Findings from the American school leader panel. *Support for Instructional Leadership*, *Volume*, 1-24). Retrieved from

http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/10.7249/j.ctt1d41d7b.1

- Kosar, K. R. (2011, June). Goals 2000: Educate America act. *Federal Education Policy History:* A Nonpartisan Educational Resource. Retrieved from https://federaleducationpolicy.wordpress.com/2011/06/15/goals-2000-educate-americaact/
- Krippendorff, K. (2004). Content analysis : an introduction to its methodology (2nd ed.). Sage.
- Kushman, J. W., & Yap, K. (1999) What makes the difference in school improvement? An impact study of onward to excellence in Mississippi schools. *Journal of Education for Students Placed At Risk*, 4(3), 277-298. DOI: 10.1207/s15327671espr0403_7
- Leane, B. (2018). Creating a transformative vision statement is all about optimizing essential skills for students. *Principal Leadership*, *18*(7), 54-57.
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2008). Linking Leadership to Student Learning: The Contributions of Leader Efficacy. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *44*(4), 496–528.
- Leithwood, K., Patten, S., & Jantzi, D. (2010). Testing a conception of how school leadership influences student learning. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 46(5), 671-706. Doi: 10.1177/0013161X10377347
- Lewin, K. (1947a). Frontiers in group dynamics: Concept, method and reality in social science, social equilibria and social change. *Human Relations*, *1*, 5-41
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1986). But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, *30*, 73-84.
- Louis, K. S., Dretzke, B., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010) How does leadership affect student achievement? Results from a national US survey. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 21(3), 315-336. DOI: 10.1080/09243453.2010.486586

McFarland, J., Hussar, B., Zhang, J., Wang, X., Wang, K., Hein, S., Diliberti, M., Forrest
Cataldi, E., Bullock Mann, F., & Barmer, A. (2019). *The Condition of Education 2019*(NCES 2019-144). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for
Education Statistics. Retrieved from

https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2019144

- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education: A guide to design and implementation.* San Francisco, CA: John Wiley and Sons.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education: Revised and expanded from case study research in education.* San Francisco, CA: John Wiley and Sons.
- Meyers, C. V., & VanGronigen, B. A. (2019). A lack of authentic school improvement plan development: Evidence of principal satisficing behavior. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 57(3), 261–278. Retrieved from https://doi-org.srvproxy1.library.tamu.edu/10.1108/JEA-09-2018-0154
- Miskel, C. G., Fevurly, R., & Stewart, J. (1979). Organizational structures and processes, perceived school effectiveness, loyalty, and job satisfaction. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 15, 97-118.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Epoche, phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation, and synthesis. In *Phenomenological research methods* (pp. 84-102). SAGE Publications, Inc. Retrieved from https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- National Center of Home Education. (2002, September). *The History of goals 2000: National center special report.* Retrieved from

https://hslda.org/content/docs/nche/000010/200209010.asp

- Nicaise, M., Gibney, T., & Crane, M. (2000). Toward an understanding of authentic learning: Student perceptions of an authentic classroom. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 9(1), 79-94. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40188542
- O'Day, J. (2002, September) Complexity, accountability, and school improvement. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72(3), 293-329.

Ogawa, R. T., & Bossert, S. T. (1995). Leadership as an organizational quality. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *31*(2), 224-243.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X95031002004

- Park, V., & Datnow, A. (2017, February). Ability grouping and differentiated instruction in an era of data-driven decision making. *American Journal of Education*, 123(2), 281-306.
- Peterson, P. (2010). Horace Mann and the nation builders. *Saving schools: From Horace Mann to virtual learning* (pp. 21-36). Harvard University Press. https://doi:10.2307/j.ctvjnrs3t.5
- Pounder, D. G., Ogawa, R. T., & Adams, E. A. (1995). Leadership as an organization-wide phenomena: Its impact on school performance. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 31(4), 564–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X9503100404

Proclamation No. 9982, 85 FR 5297 (January 24, 2020)

Sailes, J. (2008). School culture audits: making a difference in school improvement plans. *Improving Schools*, *11*(1), 74–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1365480207086756

Saldana, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.

Schmoker, M., & Wilson, R. B. (1995). Results: The key to renewal. Educational Leadership, 52(7), 62-64.

Schmoker, M. (2002). Up and away. Journal of Staff Development, 23(2), 10-13.

Seashore L., K., Leithwood, K., Wahlstrom, K. L., Anderson, S. E., Michlin, M., & Mascall, B. (2010). *Investigating the links to improved student learning*. New York, NY: The Wallace Foundation.

STISD. (2021) District Improvement Plan. Retrieved from https://www.stisd.net/about/accountability-needs-assessment

- Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2015) Direction-setting school leadership practices: A meta-analytical review of evidence about their influence. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 26(4), 499-523. DOI: 10.1080/09243453.2015.1005106
- Swaim, S. (1996). This we believe and now we must act: Developing and implementing a "shared vision". *Middle School Journal*, 28(1), 54-57. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23024070
- Taie, S., & Goldring, R. (2019). Characteristics of public and private elementary and Secondary School Principals in the United States: Results From the 2017–18 National Teacher and Principal Survey First Look (NCES 2019- 141). U.S. Department of Education.
 Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2019141.
- Texas Education Agency. (2019). 2019 accountability manual. http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/rules/tac/chapter097/19_0097_1001-1.pdf

Texas Education Agency (2019). 2017-2018 total actual financial data: South Texas ISD. Retrieved from https://rptsvr1.tea.texas.gov/cgi/sas/broker?_service=marykay&_service=appserv&_debu

g=0&_program=sfadhoc.actual_report_2018.sas&who_box=&who_list=031916

Texas Education Agency, Division of School Improvement. (2019, August). Campus needs assessment and planning guidance. *Effective schools framework*. Retrieved from https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ACCT_Campus%20Needs%20Assessment%20and %20Planning%20Process%20Guidance_20.pdf

Texas Education Agency. (2019). Advancing educational leadership. Retrieved from https://ael.education/learn

Texas Education Agency (2019). Texas academic performance report: South Texas ISD. Retrieved from

https://rptsvr1.tea.texas.gov/cgi/sas/broker?_service=marykay&year4=2019&year2=19& _debug=0&single=N&batch=N&app=PUBLIC&title=2019+Texas+Academic+Performa nce+Reports&_program=perfrept.perfmast.sas&ptype=H&paper=N&level=district&sear ch=district&namenum=south+texas&district=031916&prgopt=2019%2Ftapr%2Fpaper_t apr.sas

- Texas Education Agency. (2019). *Effective schools framework: About ESF*. https://texasesf.org/about-esf/
- Texas Education Agency. (2019). *Texas principal education and support system*. Retrieved from https://tpess.org/principal/standards/

Texas Education Agency (2017). *Total actual financial data: South Texas ISD*. Retrieved from https://_service=marykay&_service=appserv&_debug=0&_program=sfadhoc.actual_repo rt_2017.sas&who_box=&who_list=031916

Texas Education Code. (2014, June). *Commissioner's rule concerning educator standards*, 39 TexReg 4245. Retrieved from

http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/rules/tac/chapter149/ch149bb.html

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2015, July). 2015-2030 Texas Higher Education *Plan: 60x30TX*. Retrieved from http://reportcenter.thecb.state.tx.us/agencypublication/miscellaneous/thecb-60x30-strategic-plan/

- United States Census Bureau (2018, July). *Quickfacts data*. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/willacycountytexas,cameroncountytexas,hid algocountytexas,tx/PST045218
- U. S. Department of Education, National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform. A report to the nation and the Secretary of Education*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education (n.d.). *Update: ESSA consolidated state plans*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- Woten, M. R. B. & Karakashian, A. R. B. (2021). Change Theory. CINAHL Nursing Guide.
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-15

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW PART ONE

Q1. What are your first thoughts and feelings that come to your mind about campus

improvement plans?

Q2. What is your perspective about school improvement plans?

Q3. What type of experience do you have in developing school improvement plans?

Q4. What have you experienced through the years about the development of school improvement plans?

Q5. How has your role changed through the years based on your location, physical setting, or context?

Q6. What situations or experiences have been impactful and have generated personal and positive changes in developing the CIP?

Q7. What about challenges that you have experienced in developing the CIP?

Q8. Based on your experience, what has been the most influential experience and impactful context that you have experienced in developing CIPs?

Q9. To obtain your final thoughts, is there anything else you would like to tell me or share with me regarding campus improvement plans?

101

APPENDIX B

INTERVIEW PART TWO

- Q1. How did you develop the current school improvement plan?
- Q2. How did you use data to develop the current CIP?

Probes: What type of data did you use? How did you use campus data? What types of reports did you use? How did you use federal and state accountability reports?

Q3. How would you describe your experiences with your interaction with data to develop CIPs? Probes: What about challenges?

Q4. What experiences involving the development of the current CIPs have been the most impactful for you?

Q5. What about the challenge that has been the most impactful in enacting change personally, and professionally?

Q6. How do you determine success when developing the campus improvement plan?

Q7. What experiences or factors have generated the successful development of a campus improvement plan?

Probes: What about challenges?

Q8. Have any of your perspectives or actions changed through the years?

Probes: What brought about these changes?

Q9. To obtain your final thoughts, is there anything else you would like to tell me or share with me regarding these interviews?

APPENDIX C

ROS ARTIFACT

A school improvement plan is a continuous, strategic process. This artifact is informed primarily by free resources by the Texas Education Agency (TEA), the outcomes of my study, and my personal experiences in developing school improvement plans. The artifact developed involves the development and implementation of the campus improvement plan; however, this study only explored the development and not the implementation of school improvement plans. The development of the improvement plan process only includes the sections of Involve, Assess, Target, and Strategize. The implementation includes the steps of Implement, Monitor, Adjust, and Evaluate.

The artifact includes the outcomes of this study of how administrators develop school improvement plans based on their lived experiences which were the following:

- 1. Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs.
- 2. Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data.
- Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders.
- 4. Most participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan.
- 5. Most participants expressed collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan.

Furthermore, the TEA resources being utilized for this artifact are the Effective Schools Framework (ESF), the Campus Needs Assessment and Planning Guidance and the Targeted Improvement Plan Rubric. ESF is a framework with essential actions for continuous improvement. The Campus Needs Assessment and Planning Guidance provides steps to develop the campus improvement plan based on data collected and analyzed resulting in campus needs that need to be implemented and monitored in a timely manner. The Targeted Improvement Plan Rubric assesses the campus improvement against state and federal guidelines required for campus improvement plans. Based on my personal experience in development and implementation of school improvement plans, the outcome of my study, and the TEA resources, the infographics that follow that could be utilized to guide an understanding of continuous planning for improvement.



Continuous Improvement Plan Framework

Success for All Draft Framework	Rationale
Involve	
 Create a campus stakeholder committee to include current parents, students, teachers, administrators, community members, business and industry representatives, student services personnel, teachers of special education students. Review district local board policy BQB for stakeholder membership Convene the committee to develop the plan and to progress monitor during the school year. 	 Finding #3, most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders. Therefore, I suggest that the first step in building an improvement plan is to set up the stakeholder network, which represents members of the school, district, and community. Finding #4, most participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan. As part of this step, I recommend training all stakeholders in the continuous improvement process and understanding their individual and collective roles and expected outcome of the process. Finding #5, most participants expressed collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan. As with finding #3 and #4, I suggest the continuous collaboration among stakeholders is a component that eventually can support the positive outcomes and build the capacity of everyone involved.
Assess	
 Analyze the data of the campus in four areas (Campus Needs Assessment)- Demographics, Student Learning, District Process & Programs, and Perceptions Demographics- Provide a demographic summary to include student and staff demographics and program. Quantitative data including 	Finding #2: Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data. One of the major keys in developing the campus improvement plan is the use of various data as suggested in this step. Data needs to be the driver for the development of the campus improvement plan.

student information such as number of students, number of students by gender, grade level, ethnicity, economically disadvantaged plus number of students in special programs such as special education, emergent bilinguals, migrant, section 504, and gifted and talented. For staff aside from the demographic data include the years of experience and the number of teachers by programs. Include the data of the composition and expectations of the families and the surrounding community. b. Student Learning – Provide a student achievement summary to include data from state and federal accountability reports and local assessment data. Quantitative data found in the Texas Education Agency such as the STAAR/EOC, ACT, SAT, TSI, and aligned accountability reports as the domains of student achievement, school progress, and closing the gaps. School Processes & Programs

c. School Processes & Programs

 Provide a summary of the process and programs of the school to include information of human capital, facilities, curriculum, instruction, assessment, recruitment and retention of students and staff, technology, and the overall school organization.

d. Perceptions – Provide a summary of the perceptions of the school by the stakeholders.

Finding #1, most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs. As suggest from finding #2, data is a driver to the campus improvement plan and any modifications to the plan relies on the continuous monitoring of the data.

Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders. As suggested in this step, perception data is one form of data that needs to be assessed to inform a holistic interpretation of the campus needs.

	.	1
	Include qualitative data from	
	surveys. Include how the	
	school engages students,	
	families, staff, and the	
	community. Also, include the	
	data pertaining to the school	
	culture and climate.	
2.	Based on the data, identify the	
	strengths and weaknesses for each of	
	the four areas above.	
3.	Based on the data analysis, identify	
	areas of improvement(problem) to	
	reduce the gap that exists between the	
	desired standard and the outcome	
	desired based on your school mission	
	and accountability standards.	
4	Create problem statements that are	
т.	factual, based on data. Prioritize one	
	or two problem statements that will	
	help meet the desired performance.	
5	For each problem statement, do a root	
5.	cause analysis by finding the main	
	reason why the problem exists, and which can be under the control of the	
	school such as quality of instruction and student services.	
	Target	
1.	Review the district goals. The district	
	goals must be addressed by the	Finding #1: Most participants expressed the
	campuses.	need to continuously monitor data and modify
2.	Review the TEA requirements such as	the campus improvement plan based on
	the Title I and ESSA requirements.	identified needs.
3.	Based on your problem statements,	Finding #2: Most participants expressed the
	create SMART goals (Campus	importance of data to drive the development
	Performance Objectives) that are	of campus improvement, though they
	specific, measurable, achievable,	expressed different types of data.
	relevant, and time bound.	Finding #3: Most participants expressed the
4.	The SMART goals created will be the	importance of including feedback from
''	performance objectives.	stakeholders.
5	Identify the evaluation data sources	sunctionorb.
5.	that will be analyzed to determine if	I recommend the continuous involvement of
	the performance objectives have been	stakeholders in developing the plans' goals
	met.	and how these goals will be evaluated for
	met.	and now most goals will be evaluated 101

	mastery. Based on findings #1 and #2, these goals are based on the problem statements
	developed in the previous step of collecting and analyzing various data.
Strategize	
 Based on the developed goals (performance objectives), create strategies that will lead to meet the performance objectives. 	Finding #1: Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on
2. The strategies must be scientifically research-based activities.	identified needs. Finding #2: Most participants expressed the
3. Provide the persons responsible for the activities, timeline of formative reviews, resources needed, the funding sources, and expected results and impact.	importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data. Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from
4. Identify the elements aligned to the Schoolwide and Targeted Assistance Title I Elements.	stakeholders. In this step and based on the first three
 5. Identify the priorities aligned to the Texas Education Agency (TEA) priorities. 	findings of this study, I suggest to individually and collectively research proven strategies to include activities and steps that
 6. Identify the levers aligned to the Effective School Framework (ESF) Levers. 	can lead to meeting the goals established in the previous step. Strategizing requires creating subcommittees per goal within the
7. Submit to the central office for board approval.	stakeholders, then coming together to present the results of their research and agreeing to the best strategies to meet the plan goals.
Implement	
1. Once board approved, make the plan available and accessible to the entire community by posting it on the school website and having hard copies in	Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders.
areas such as the front office and library.	This step of Implement and the subsequent steps were not part of my study; however, I
 Communicate the plan to all stakeholders. 	added findings of the study that I found to be relevant due to my personal experiences in
3. Meet with the person responsible for	not only developing campus improvement
implementation.4. Facilitate the implementation such as by ensuring the resources are available	plans but also implementing campus improvement plans. I personally believe that stakeholders in this step of Implement are crucial. Most times, the persons involved as

and any professional development necessary is delivered.	stakeholders are also responsible to implement part of the strategies or activities found within the plan. Thus, all stakeholders normally take ownership of the plan due to their involvement and they will keep the plan alive.
Monitor	
 Collect formative assessment data that is qualitative and quantitative based on evaluation sources. Timely review of the data must be completed based on the timeline of the formative reviews and the summative review. Convene the committee to review the data, implementation, and the progress of the plan by reviewing each strategy. 	 Finding #1: Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs. Finding #2: Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data. Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders. Similarly to previous steps, data and collaboration are important in this step. I recommend that stakeholders come together in a timely manner to continuously reflect on the progress of each strategy towards meeting the set goals.
Adjust	
 While the committee has been convened to check the progress of the plan for formative and summative reviews, adjust the plan as necessary. Adjusting can include changing any components of the plans such as the eliminating and adding strategies if not enough or no progress has been made to meet the performance objectives. Continue monitoring. Reconvene committee as necessary when progress is not being made between review and readjust. 	 Finding #1: Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs. Finding #2: Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data. Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders. This step makes the improvement plan not only a living document but a continuous

5. Communicate the adjustments and changes for implementation.	previous step of monitoring goes hand in hand with this step of adjustment; however, I chose to separate them in this framework so that the reader understands that adjusting is a crucial step to continuous improvement. Adjusting the improvement plan in a timely manner based on the campus data makes the plan a collective living document driven by the conscious effort of all stakeholders.
Evaluate	
 Convene the committee for the summative review and evaluate the plan. Determine if the performance objectives and goals were met by critically analyzing the data. Reevaluate the plan once the state and federal accountability results are released. Initiate the process again. Recap on the effectiveness of the process taken by the committee in the development, implementation, and monitoring of the plan. Adjust the process as necessary. 	Finding #1: Most participants expressed the need to continuously monitor data and modify the campus improvement plan based on identified needs. Finding #2: Most participants expressed the importance of data to drive the development of campus improvement, though they expressed different types of data. Finding #3: Most participants expressed the importance of including feedback from stakeholders. Finding #4, most participants expressed the need or the importance for a sustainable system, process, or support to develop the campus improvement plan Finding #5, most participants expressed collective and individual efficacy influenced the negative and positive development of the school improvement plan.
110	I recommend this step not only as evaluation of the success of the plan to meet the goal developed but also as an evaluation of the effectiveness of the stakeholders in coming together in every step of the development, implementation, monitoring and adjustment of the campus improvement plan. Doing this step of evaluation of the plan and the stakeholder committee can lead to a true continuous process of improvement of the actual framework, individual stakeholders, and the stakeholder committee.

Reflection

Through my years of experience in developing and implementing campus improvement plans, I have grown in understanding the significance of the campus improvement plan for continuous improvement. Through this study, I grew in my own practice in better understanding the research behind the importance of being research and data-driven to support improvement. Early in my career, I experienced a lack of understanding of the critical role the campus improvement plan played which I can only attribute to the lack of understanding of the development process and the lack of importance given to the plan other than being a one-time event for compliance. As I grew in my practices, my knowledge, and based on the needs of my campuses, I have learned of the positive impact that a continuous improvement plan can have in the positive progress and performance of students and campuses.